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CORPORATE INFORMATION AND KEY DATES

AREHREZRHE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB w2

The board of directors (“Board” or “Director(s)”) of Ulferts
International Limited (“Company”) presents the consolidated results
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2025 (“Year”).

RESULTS

Against the backdrop of a challenging market environment and
weakening consumption sentiment, the Group’s total revenue
inevitably decreased to HK$153.0 million (2024: HK$171.6 million)
during the Year. Gross profit was HK$88.3 million (2024: HK$99.7
million).

Revenue from the retail segment amounted to HK$145.1 million
(2024: HK$155.1 million), accounting for 94.8% (2024: 90.4%) of the
Group’s total revenue. Aggregate retail sales revenue of “Ulferts”
and “Ulferts Signature” amounted to HK$70.8 million (2024:
HK$78.0 million), and remained the key revenue contributor,
accounting for 48.8% (2024: 50.3%) of total retail revenue. The retail
sales revenue of “at ¢ home” was HK$37.6 million (2024: HK$35.2
million), accounting for 25.9% (2024: 22.7%) of total retail revenue.
Aggregate retail sales revenue of “Slumberland’ and “Ulfenbo’
was HK$36.7 million (2024: HK$41.9 million), accounting for 25.3%
(2024: 27.0%) of total retail revenue.

Due to the decrease in its total revenue and the aggregate
impairment loss of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets of HK$16.1 million (2024: HK$5.2 million), the Group
recorded a net loss of HK$41.0 million (2024: HK$25.0 million)
during the Year. Basic loss per share was HK5.13 cents (2024
HK3.13 cents).

MARKET REVIEW

Geopolitical tensions and various economic uncertainties such as
inflation and unemployment rates have dampened consumer
sentiment. Despite an interest rate cut and removal of all property
cooling measures during the Year, the downward trend in prices of
local residential properties prices showed no sign of abating. There
has been a deepening market competition among the product
offerings and price ranges. In the face of the market challenges
together with the gloomy property market, the operating
environment for the furniture market remained relatively complex
during the Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a leading retailer of high quality home furniture mainly
imported from Europe. The Company’s shares have been listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
("Stock Exchange") since January 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SRR B

The Group has been established for over 45 years, and takes pride
in providing superior quality stylish furniture in Hong Kong. As at 31
March 2025, the Group operated a total of 24 points-of-sale ("POS”)
in Hong Kong under the trade names of “Ulferts Signature”,
“Ulferts” and “at e home”, which specialise in furniture products, as
well as “Ulfenbo” and “Slumberland”, which specialise in
mattresses and bedding products.

“Ulferts” and “Ulferts Signature” are dedicated to elevating
customers’ home living standard with style and quality, and offer a
wide variety of contemporary style furniture products targeting
middle to high-end groups. “at ¢ home” offers quality compact
furniture and home accessories to suit small living spaces of
modern families.

Targeting the mass market, “Ulfenbo” offers mattresses, pillows,
sofabeds, sofas and other ancillary items, which are distributed
through “Ulfenbo” specialty stores, department store counter and
wholesale channel.

The Group is the sole agent of “Slumberland’ and “Vono” in Hong
Kong and Macau. “Slumberland’ is a well-known British mattress
brand offering premium mattresses for households and hotels,
targeting high-end market while “Vono”, another British mattress
brand, targets the mass market. In addition to mattresses, both
brands also offer pillows and bedding products, and are distributed
through “Slumberland’ specialty store, department store counters,
other POS operated by the Group as well as wholesale channel.

In addition, the Group is also operating online shopping platforms
for “Ulferts”, “at e home”, “Ulfenbo” and “Slumberland’, in order to
maximise market coverage and revenue.

Retail Business
e  Effective Market Segmentation

With a clear understanding of market segmentation, the Group
defines and identifies target consumer profiles in order to
develop product and marketing strategies to reach out to their
specific preferences.

“Ulferts”, the Group’s core retail label, is dedicated to
providing high quality, stylish and luxury furniture. It offers a
wide variety of contemporary style furniture products, enabling
its customers to create their ideal homes. The Group operates
“Ulferts” showrooms across Hong Kong, targeting middle to
high-mid income groups. “Ulferts Signature’ offers high-end
branded furniture products and also luxury European furniture
with a large collection of colours and configurations. It targets
up-market customers seeking a superior lifestyle. Another retail
line, “at e home”, offers quality, stylish and compact furniture. It
targets the mid-range segment and is geared towards the
needs of young couples and new families.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB MR

With over 100 years’ history, the British brand “Slumberland’
targets up-market customers and is committed to providing
premium mattresses that enable customers to enjoy better and
healthier sleep, while “Vono”, another British mattress brand
owned by the same supplier targets the mass market. The
products of “Slumberland’ and “Vono” are distributed through
the stores of “Ulferts”, “at ¢ home” and “Ulfenbo” as well as
the specialty store and department store counters of
“Slumberland’.

“Ulfenbo” is a self-owned label which has been recognised by
the “Hong Kong Top Brand Mark” for 11 consecutive years
since 2014, under the Hong Kong Top Brand Scheme
organised by the Chinese Manufacturers Association of Hong
Kong and Hong Kong Brand Development Council. “Ulfenbo”
products focus on mass market consumers who demand
quality but affordable mattresses, pillows and other ancillary
items to enhance their sleep experience. “Ulfenbo” products
are distributed through “Ulfenbo” stores, which are typically
small-scale, and are designed with a casual and relaxing
environment, to highlight smart living style. “Ulfenbo” products
are also distributed at “at e home” stores and department store
counters for enhancing the market reach.

Diverse Product Portfolio

The Group offers a wide variety of furniture products — ranging
from leather and fabric sofas, cabinets, dining tables and chairs,
through wardrobes, coffee tables and sideboards, to beds,
which are imported from European and Asian countries. The
Group currently carries more than 50 furniture brands in “Ulferts
Signature” and “Ulferts” showrooms, as well as “at ¢ home”
stores, including international brands such as himolla, Gamma,
MIDJ, egoitaliano and MALERBA, most of which the Group has
built long-standing relationship. “at ¢ home” particularly offers
various compact furniture products with special features and
functions to suit the local small living spaces, as well as chic
home accessories.

The Group also specialises in mattress and bedding products,
covering high-end and mass markets. “Slumberland’ mainly
offers mattresses with its unique posture springing system
which enhances the comfort and support of the body. Besides,
the Group offers mattresses, pillows, sofas, sofabeds, beds, as
well as other ancillary items under its self-owned label
“Ulfenbo”. By providing different models of mattresses and
pillows in various sizes with varying supports and features, the
Group endeavours to meet diverse customer needs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB MR

e Comprehensive Retail Sales Channel e ZLFEHERE

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 24 POS in Hong Kong,
with the number of outlets in each retail line as follows:

R2025F 3831 H REBNEHBR
Q4 MESHER STERCHEHENT ¢

Number of POS
SHEREHE

Furniture Products

FRER

“Ulferts Signature”

TELTE BB

“Ulferts”
PEC1EEAE |

“at e home”
Tat e home |

Mattresses and Bedding Products
PR#E R PR £ A

“Slumberland” store and department store counters
THFHMERE IS BB AREIE

“Ulfenbo” stores and department store counter
TEXEE  [ENBEEARIEE

Total &&t

24

“Ulferts” showrooms are strategically located in either upscale
residential areas or major shopping areas, targeting middle to
high-mid income groups. With its solid presence in these mature
locations, the Group enjoys substantial foot traffic and a high
brand reputation. The Group’s flagship store, “Ulferts
Signature”, is a 3-storey store with gross floor area of
approximately 21,700 square feet, in Hung Hom. It features more
luxurious lines of furniture and masterpieces with opulent
designs and sophisticated finishing and excellent craftsmanship.
Premium brands including Cornelio Cappellini, Malerba and
Crystal Stone are available at “Ulferts Signature”. “at ¢ home”
stores are generally located in shopping malls which carries a
furniture theme. Meanwhile, “Ulfenbo” stores and department
store counters are situated in residential areas, to capitalise on
the market potential. During the Year, one “Slumberland’ store
was opened in Shatin and “Slumberland’ department store
counters were opened in Tsuen Wan, Kai Tak and Quarry Bay
respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SRR B

e  Excellent Customers Shopping Experience

“Ulferts Signature” and “Ulferts” showrooms are spacious,
with a stylish and elegant environment, enabling the Group to
display a wide spectrum of products for customers to touch
and feel and to maximise customers’ shopping experience. The
ambience, setting and placement of furniture within the
distinctive display zones have all been tailor-designed by a
dedicated visual merchandising team to impart harmonious,
home-like comfort. The salespersons are well-trained and offer
customers advice catering for their personal needs. In
recognition of its service excellence, “Ulferts” received the
“Quality Service Leader Seasonal Award - Furniture & Home
Accessories Category” for October to December 2024, in the
Quality Service Programme organised by the Hong Kong Retail
Management Association.

e Diversified Marketing Strategies

The Group believes that brand recognition is crucial for driving
long-term growth and success. To enhance brand awareness,
the Group regularly conducted a range of marketing and
promotional campaigns spanning social media engagements,
print advertisements, outdoor billboards and advertising as well
as pop-up exhibitions at suitable venues. It also launched
promotional campaigns such as seasonal sale, annual sale and
stock clearance sale, as well as joint promotions with banks
and other companies.

Wholesale Business

The Group operates a wholesale business for mattresses under its
self-owned label “Ulfenbo” as well as the British brands
“Slumberland’ and “Vono’, through over 100 dealers in Hong Kong
and Macau.

Special Projects

Complementing its retail and wholesale business, the Group has a
special projects division, which undertakes furniture-related projects
primarily for corporate customers in relation to cinemas, hotels,
showflats, and staff quarters. The division provides services ranging
from planning and designing, through procuring custom-made
furniture to final installation for corporate customers, as well as
liaison services with furniture manufacturers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB mE A

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources

There was no material change in the capital structure during the
Year. Cash and cash equivalents of the Group was HK$27.3 million
(2024: HK$43.4 million) as at 31 March 2025, which were mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. As at 31 March 2025, bank
borrowings of the Group was nil (2024: nil), hence its gearing ratio
was zero (2024: zero). The cash position enables the Group to
retain flexibility and endurance to cater for future development and
market uncertainty.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s current assets and current
liabilities were approximately HK$76.7 million (2024: HK$105.7
million) and HK$52.1 million (2024: HK$65.0 million), respectively.
Current ratio and quick ratio of the Group were 1.5 (2024: 1.6) and
0.9 (2024: 1.0), respectively.

In view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 March 2025, the
Board considered that the Group had sufficient working capital for
its operations and future development plans against market
challenges.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s number of employees was 113
(2024: 126). Total staff costs including Directors’ remuneration and
the other staff costs for the Year were HK$41.5 million (2024:
HK$43.6 million). Each employee’s remuneration was determined in
accordance with individual’s responsibility, competence and skills,
experience and performance as well as market pay levels. Staff
benefits include medical and life insurance, retirement benefits and
other competitive fringe benefits.

To provide incentive or rewards to the staff, the Company has
adopted a share option scheme, particulars of which are set out in
the section headed “Share Options Scheme” from pages 121-123 of
this annual report.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERESHREEASZERE

Executive Director and Chairman

YEUNG CHING LOONG, ALEXANDER, JP, aged 39, was appointed
as Executive Director of the Company and Chairman of the Board in
April 2024. He is the Chairman of the Executive Committee and a
member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Yeung
is responsible for leading the Board and managing its work to ensure
that the Board effectively operates. He has years of experience in
retailing and wholesaling of furniture and a wide range of
management experience in various businesses covering property
investment and development, hotel operations, entertainment
production and investment, artiste management, film production,
investment and distribution, cinema development and operations,
financial and securities services, retailing of watch and jewellery as
well as media and publication. He is currently a member of the 14th
National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (*CPPCC”) and a member of the 14th Beijing Municipal
Committee of the CPPCC. Mr. Yeung holds numerous voluntary
public service positions, with a particular focus on youth
development. He serves as a committee member of All-China Youth
Federation, vice chairman of Beijing Youth Federation and chairman
of Hong Kong United Youth Exchange Foundation. Additionally, he
is a member of Culture Commission, a member of Hong Kong Arts
Development Council, a board member of Hong Kong Ocean Park
Corporation, Senior Asst. Commissioner (Youth) of Civil Aid Service
of Hong Kong and non-official member of Immigration Department
User’'s Committee. Mr. Yeung is a board member of Emperor
Foundation, where he leads Emperor Group in promoting charitable
activities. He is also an executive director and vice chairman of the
boards of Emperor International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 163)
(“Emperor International”) and Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited
(Stock Code: 296) (“Emperor E Hotel”) and an executive director
and the chairman of the boards of Emperor Culture Group Limited
(Stock Code: 491) (“Emperor Culture”) and New Media Lab Limited
(Stock Code: 1284) (“New Media Lab”), all being listed members of
Emperor Group.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERESHREEASZERE

Executive Director and Managing Director

CHAN CHUEN YIN, aged 53, an Executive Director and Managing
Director of the Company. He joined the Group in August 2021 as
Managing Director of the operating company and is responsible for
the overall management and business strategies of the Group. Mr.
Chan is a member of the Executive Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company as well as a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. He has over 30 years of experience in
operations, sales and marketing and business development. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Chan had held management positions in
various reputable corporations in Hong Kong covering consumer
and telecommunications industries.

Executive Director

FAN MAN SEUNG, VANESSA, aged 62, an Executive Director of the
Company. She has been involved in the management of the Group
since July 1992 and is responsible for overseeing the overall
corporate management and advising on the business strategy of the
Group. Ms. Fan is the Chairperson of the Corporate Governance
Committee, a member of the Executive Committee of the Company
as well as a director of a subsidiary of the Company. She has over 35
years of corporate management experience in diversified businesses
ranging from wholesaling and retailing of furniture, property
investment and development, hotel and hospitality, retailing of watch
and jewellery, financial and securities services, cinema development
and operation to entertainment production and investment, artiste
management as well as media and publication. Ms. Fan is currently a
director of Emperor International, Emperor E Hotel, Emperor Watch &
Jewellery Limited (Stock Code: 887) (“Emperor W&J”), Emperor
Capital Group Limited (Stock Code: 717), Emperor Culture and New
Media Lab, all being listed members of Emperor Group. She is a
lawyer by profession in Hong Kong and a qualified accountant, and
holds a Master’s Degree in Business Administration.
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EERESHREEASZERE

Independent Non-executive Directors

CHAN YEE MAN, aged 51, was appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in January 2018. She is the
Chairperson of the Audit Committee as well as a member of the
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company. Ms. Chan has been practising as a Certified Public
Accountant in Hong Kong and has over 30 years of experience in
the accounting profession. She holds a Bachelor of Accounting
Degree awarded by The University of Hong Kong and a Master of
Corporate Finance Degree awarded by The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Ms. Chan is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member of The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

CHIU KIN FAI, aged 51, was appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in January 2018. He is the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee as well as a member of the
Audit Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company. Mr. Chiu is a partner of a solicitors firm, T.H. Koo &
Associates. He was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 1998
and holds a Bachelor of Laws Degree awarded by The University of
Hong Kong.

NG HOI YUE, aged 61, was appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in January 2018. He is the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee as well as a member of
the Audit Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company. Mr. Ng was previously an executive director and deputy
chief executive officer of Asian Citrus Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 73) until 30 June 2023. Mr. Ng has been practising as a
Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong since 1989. He is a fellow
member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in England.

BIERITES

[H#E 5155 N20184F 1 HERFAARAT
BUFAITES - HARAADEREZERER
FINEESHRELEZEEHRE - BT ES
BURERESTA LEIEES R0 FESTHE
KB - WS EEBAREEBNSrEBEL 8
EESBIRBERNIPESHBE LTS
BZTATESTMAREE  RERITAR

SN SERGELEENBEGEE -

BEEEE - 5135 201841 A ERTEAKRAT
BIUFERTEE - FARAARIRREEGEE
LREREZESMEEXEREZEGNE - B4
RERIEBEMITMNER A BN 1998 F &R
EEEMER  UNBEAEBREERNEES

T

B35BT 615 R2018F 1 BEEZFEAKRAT
BIUERITER - FAAARAFWEESETE
REREESMNPEETEEESNE - AL
BRIDNREZRBRAT (RMBRIR:73)
ZHITEEFRBEITHAEAS HE2023F6A
0H - A B1989F AT AN EAES
SR TR RSB BT EsTMmA
- BAGHMAGT LABRSTARGEMA
BEFREE-

Ulferts International Limited EX{tBIFZ G RA T

Annual Report 2024/2025 4R

15



16

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EREHRE

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
page 63 of this annual report.

No interim dividend was paid to the shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders”) during the Year (2024: Nil).

The Board has resolved not to recommend any final dividend for the
Year (2024: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion and analysis of
the Group’s performance during the Year and an analysis of the
likely future development of the Group’s business are set out in the
Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 4 to 12 of this
annual report. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Group are set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 27 to 55 and note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report respectively.

Save as disclosed in the Management Discussion and Analysis,
there is no important event affecting the Group that had occurred
since the end of the Year up to the date of this annual report.

In addition, an analysis of the Group’s performance during the Year
using financial key performance indicators is provided in the Five-
year Financial Summary on page 136. Discussion on the Group’s
environmental policies and performance, key relationships with the
Group’s key stakeholders as well as compliance with relevant laws
and regulations which have a significant impact on the Company
are set out in the 2024/2025 Environmental, Social and Governance
Report of the Company.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 136 of this annual
report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Year are set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

No Group’s reserves are available for distribution to the
Shareholders as at 31 March 2025, calculated in accordance with
the Companies Ordinance (2024: Nil).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

ACCUMULATED LOSSES

Details of movements in the accumulated losses of the Group
during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 66 of this annual report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme of the Company adopted on 8
January 2018 (“Share Option Scheme”) as disclosed in note 22 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report, no
equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company during
the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of changes in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.
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ESTHE

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the aggregate revenue from sales of goods or
rendering of services attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for less than 30% (2024:30%) of the Group’s
total revenue for the Year.

During the Year, the aggregate purchase attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers and the Group’s largest supplier accounted for
approximately 46.8% (2024: 43.0%) and 13.6% (2024: 16.8%)
respectively of the Group’s total purchases for the Year.

None of the Directors, their close associates (as defined under the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(“Listing Rules”)) or the Shareholders (who to the knowledge of the
Directors own more than 5% of the Company'’s issued shares) had a
beneficial interest in the share capital of any of the above major
customers or suppliers of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Chuen Yin (Managing Director)

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa

Ms. Mok Fung Lin, lvy (retired on 1 April 2025)
Mr. Wong Chi Fai (retired on 1 April 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Chan Yee Man
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management as at
the date of this annual report are set out from pages 13 to 15 of this
annual report. Details of Directors’ remuneration are set out in note
8 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

In accordance with Articles 80(1) and 80(3) of the Articles of
Association of the Company (“Articles of Association”), Ms. Chan
Yee Man and Mr. Chiu Kin Fai shall retire by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on Tuesday, 19
August 2025 (“2025 AGM”) and, being eligible, have offered
themselves for re-election thereat.

None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at the 2025
AGM has an unexpired service contract with the Group which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

The list of directors of the subsidiaries of the Company during the
Year and up to the date of this annual report is kept at the
registered office of the Company and available for inspection by the
Shareholders during office hours.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the Group’s business were entered into or existed during the
Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, the
Company has in force the permitted indemnity provisions which are
provided for in the Articles of Association and in the directors and
officers liability insurance maintained for the Group in respect of
potential liability and costs associated with legal proceedings that
may be brought against the Directors and the directors of the Group
respectively.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company (“Chief Executives”)
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) as recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors adopted by the Company ("Ulferts Securities Code")
were as follows:

(A) Long position interests in the Company

Ordinary shares of the Company (“Shares”)

Capacity/
Nature of interests

S #HHE

Name of Director

EEMA

Mr. Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander
(“Mr. Alex Yeung”)
BEEEEE (THBEL )

Eligible beneficiary of

Note: These Shares were held by Ulferts International Group
Holdings Limited (“Ulferts Holdings”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Albert Yeung Investments Holdings Limited
(*AY Investments Holdings”). AY Investments Holdings was
in turn held by First Trust Management AG (“First Trust”) in
trust for a private discretionary trust of which Mr. Alex Yeung
is one of the eligible beneficiaries.

a private discretionary trust
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(B) Long position interests in associated corporations of the
Company

Ordinary shares

Name of associated
corporations

Capacity/
Nature of interests

Name of Directors

(B) WAL EMEEMZFAMR

Number of Approximate %
shares of issued
interested  voting Shares

REERZZ HERTE

EENA HBCEE BT S1p/ tERtE BRGEE HRERBROERN %
Mr. Alex Yeung Emperor International Eligible beneficiary of 4121,416,834 74.71
BEE REF a private discretionary trust (Note) ( fffaE )
MABBEICAERZHA
Emperor E Hotel - Ditto — 636,075,041 53.52
HEREEE —RLE- (Note) ( 5 )
Emperor W&J - Ditto - 4,298,630,000 59.24
REEHEKRE -mE- (Note) ( i3 )
Emperor Culture - Ditto - 2,371,313,094 73.80
RELEZE —RLE- (Note) ( Bifz#)
New Media Lab - Ditto - 315,000,000 52.50
et —RlL- (Note) ( Bzt )
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Emperor International Beneficial Owner 15,750,000 0.29
Vanessa T2 E EREBEA
SEEE LT
Emperor E Hotel - Ditto - 2,430,750 0.20
CE T ~AL-

Note: Emperor International, Emperor E Hotel, Emperor W&J,
Emperor Culture and New Media Lab are companies with their
shares listed on the Stock Exchange. These shares were
ultimately owned by the respective private discretionary
trusts. Mr. Alex Yeung had deemed interests in the same
shares by virtue of being one of the eligible beneficiaries of
such trusts.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the
Directors nor Chief Executives had any interests or short positions
in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO).

SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report. No option
was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share
Option Scheme since its adoption.

The number of options available for grant under the scheme
mandate limit of the Share Option Scheme was both 80,000,000
Shares as at the beginning and the end of the Year.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme as stated above, at the end of
the Year and at no time during the Year was the Company, any of its
holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors or Chief Executives or
their spouses or children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as is known to any Directors or Chief Executives, as at 31
March 2025, the persons or corporations (other than the Directors
or Chief Executives) who had, or were deemed or taken to have
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of
the SFO (“DI Register”) were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares

Capacity/
Nature of interests

S/ #mnE

Name of Shareholders

[FET S ]

BEIRMHEIERZ 2L

MR XAl R AT AN MAFEERK
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B ESEARSTRAERRSZEMBN
18 U T TR AEBARRAHAEMEMEA
[ BS 2 A 1) S (B R T BRI 35 ©
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AEMESINEETHRABAA - 12202543
A31H REFIEETHBABS FIIAL
FEER RN IARERG P ETAHRANE
FBRRAREE S LB REIZB 336 RATE
FRrETi(TREECH ) 2EE&EB
T

REERZFE

Number of %
Issued Shares of issued
interested voting Shares
Fa#ERZ EEZTE
ERTRHEE RERRD %

AY Investments Holdings Interest in a controlled corporation 600,000,000 75.00

BRI ERER MR LB et

First Trust Trustee of a private discretionary trust 600,000,000 75.00

MABBEFZZTEA

Dr. Yeung Sau Shing, Albert Founder of a private discretionary trust 600,000,000 75.00
(“Dr. Yeung”) MABBEFEZEIZA

BREEL (THEL )

Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon Interest of spouse 600,000,000 75.00

N fofdfes

Note: These Shares were the same Shares of which Mr. Alex Yeung had
deemed interests as set out under Section (A) of “Directors’ and
Chief Executives’ Interests in Securities” above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Directors or
Chief Executives were not aware of any other person or corporation
(other than the Directors and Chief Executives) who had, or were
deemed or taken to have, any interests or short positions in any
Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the DI Register.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors or their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) was interested in any
business which was considered to compete or was likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group
as required to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Group had the following continuing connected
transactions with connected persons (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company and certain Director(s) had material
interests, directly or indirectly, in certain transactions:

A. Tenancy Agreement

Date: 30 September 2024

Parties: (1) Great Bloom Corporation Limited
(“Great Bloom”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company
(2) Palace Express Limited (“Palace
Express”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of Emperor International
Term: From 1 October 2024 to 30 September
2025

Great Bloom as tenant entered into a
tenancy agreement with Palace Express as
landlord in relation to the tenancy of Shop
Nos 7-11 on G/F, the whole of 1/F, 2/F
(including the entrance hall on 1/F) (Retalil
Portion), the whole of 3/F, 4/F and 5/F
(Carparks), Wei King Building, 275
Chatham Road North, Hung Hom, Kowloon,
Hong Kong with an annual cap of
HK$3,370,500 being set (“Tenancy”).

Nature:
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Connected
relationship
and Director’s

ECTORS’ REPORT

As the Company and Emperor International
were both indirectly controlled by the
respective private discretionary trusts set

FZRFRR BRAARRRZEESH
B BB LR cHELAR
BERREZEES AL 1R

interests: up by Dr. Yeung, Emperor International was BEMARAEI14AE RE
a deemed connected person of the Bl R R AN 2 BEA
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing T BERGEERIEGIRE
Rules. Mr. Alex Yeung had deemed interest B BBEITEERS R
in the transactions by virtue of being one of AZ— HIEEEIENRZ
the eligible beneficiaries of the relevant EXZPHERES
trust controlling Emperor International.
Announcement: 30 September 2024 N 2024 F9H 30H
Rental expense During the Year, the rental expense amount HERX RAFEAN gtEEERE
amount: paid in respect of the Tenancy with Palace £F BYNCHERZSER

Express was HK$1,685,000.

Master Agreements on Provision of Products and Services

Name of counterparties

BESYEL

Scope of Products and
Services provided
TRIME &R RV EES

1,685,000/ 7T ©

B. RRMtERKREZBIEE

(D/mry)
(B/B/%)
(i) Date of agreement
mEEH
(i) Term Amount received
for the Year
XEEEW
k4
HK$’ 000
T#T

(iii) Date of Announcement
N=E

(1) Albert Yeung Sales/provision of products and services by (i) 03/03/2023 463
Holdings Limited* the Group to relevant members of Emperor (ii) 01/04/2023 -
BXBEXER Group: 31/03/2026
BRAR" FEEARSEEEEREHE REERK (iii) 03/03/2023
MR -
(2)  Emperor International (i)  selling products and providing furniture (i) 03/03/2023 2
HERE procurement consultancy services in (ii) 01/04/2023 -
relation to their projects or for their own 31/03/2026
consumption (iii) 03/03/2023
S O B E A B AR AR R 2 ,
(8)  Emperor Culture %E%gg‘%“"EH’\%WK"% AR (i) 03/03/2023 57
RENLEX oo (i) 01/07/2023 -
(i) selling furniture coupons 30/06/2026
=Rt (ili) 03/03/2023
(i) providing other types of ancillary
services and any transaction of revenue
nature N
AN EERERETBRALER
EARS
Total BT 522
* as agent acting on behalf of relevant members of Emperor * EERREEEEHBERE (KEF-

Group (other than the Group, Emperor International group and
Emperor Culture group)

REHBEEBERRECEXREBER
SN ITERRE
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EREHRE

Connected Relationship and Director’s interests:

As the said counterparties were directly or indirectly controlled by
the respective private discretionary trusts set up by Dr. Yeung, they
were deemed connected persons of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. Mr. Alex Yeung had deemed interest in the
transactions by virtue of being one of the eligible beneficiaries of
the relevant trusts controlling relevant members of Emperor Group.

Annual caps

The annual caps for transactions between the members of Emperor
Group were HK$9,800,000 for each of financial years of 2024, 2025
and 2026 respectively.

Compliance with Disclosure Requirements

Save for the “sales of goods” in the amount of HK$522,000 out of
HK$654,000, interest expense on lease liabilities, lease payments
and rental expense as shown in note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report, none of the other related
party transactions as set out in note 24 constituted connected
transactions or non-exempt continuing connected transactions
(*CCTs") that are required to be disclosed under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in
respect of the non-exempt CCTs.

Independent Auditor’s Letter on Non-exempt CCTs

The Company’s independent auditor was engaged to report on the
non-exempt CCTs of the Group in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised)
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” (“Auditor’s Letter”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The independent auditor issued an unqualified conclusion in
respect of the non-exempt CCTs of the Group in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEETWE

Confirmation of Independent Non-executive Directors on Non-exempt
CCTs

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-
executive Directors of the Company (“INEDs”) reviewed the non-
exempt CCTs and the Auditor's Letter and confirmed that these
transactions had been entered into by the Group:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(ify on normal or better commercial terms (as the case may be);
and

(iii) according to the respective agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

Save as disclosed above, there was no transaction, arrangement or
contract which was significant in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or his/her
connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the
Year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors shall be decided by the Board as
recommended by the Remuneration Committee having regard to a
written remuneration policy (which ensures a clear link of business
strategy and a close alignment with the Shareholders’ interest and
current market best practice). Remuneration should be paid with
reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives, the
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the executive and non-executive Directors,
internal equity of employment conditions across the Group and
applicability of performance-based remuneration. The Directors’
fees are paid in line with market practice. No individual should
determine his or her own remuneration.

Employees’ remuneration was determined in accordance with
individual’s responsibility, competence and skills, experience and
performance as well as market pay level. Remuneration package
includes, as the case may be, basic salaries, Directors’ fees,
housing allowances, contribution to pension schemes, discretionary
bonus relating to financial performance of the Group and individual
performance, ad-hoc rewards, share options and other competitive
fringe benefits such as medical and life insurances. Details of the
emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals of
the Group are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

ESTHE

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of this annual report, there was sufficient
public float of at least 25% of the issued Shares as required under
the Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Messrs. Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for its
re-appointment as independent auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the 2025 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander
Chairman

Hong Kong
25 June 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EREARE

The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance for the Company so as to ensure “Accountability,
Responsibility and Transparency” towards Shareholders, investors,
employees as well as other stakeholders of the Company.

The Directors have adopted various policies to ensure compliance
with the code provisions of Corporate Governance Code (“CG
Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules so as to
having effective application of the principles of good corporate
governance. During the Year, the Company fully complied with all
code provisions of the CG Code.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

The Company is committed to cultivating a corporate culture,
focusing on four pillars, namely customer centricity, excellence in
products and services, people first and positivity, which is
underpinned by its purpose and values that enable employees at all
levels of the Group to thrive and meet their full potentials by acting
in a lawful, ethical and responsible manner that allows the Company
to deliver sustainable long-term performance and operate in a way
that benefits society and the environment.

The Company’s purpose and values serve as a guide for
employees’ conduct and behaviours, ensuring that they are
integrated throughout the Company’s operational practices,
workplace policies and practices and stakeholder relationships:

EFEUNRAFRARFTRRKTIZELEES
DERAARANTRR  REE  BELUAHEM
FORERE HE  aEREERE  ZHE -

ERCRMSTEBER - DIREREST LR
#HC1FEz X ERTR (T BEXERTA )
HISFRIMES (e BRERRENEXEIGZ
RAl- RAFERN ARAFAEE2METEXE
JASFRIZ FrasTRIMESC

163 L B SR

ARBLUREREESRERBELEL
BINEEL - BEEMRE  LAREK &
A EOREHR BARAEESREES
BETE AVYERMEEENTERXTD
BREER AMEAQARABERRBATFER
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Purpose
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To engage and delight our
stakeholders for success
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERME

The management is responsible for setting the tone and shaping the
corporate culture of the Company, as well as defining the purpose,
values and strategic direction of the Group, which are under review
by the Board. Taking into account the corporate culture is reflected
in various contexts, such as workforce engagement, employee
retention and training, legal and regulatory compliance, staff safety,
wellbeing and support, the culture, purpose, value and strategy of
the Group are aligned with one another.

THE BOARD

The Company is headed by the Board which is responsible for the
leadership, control and promotion of the success of the Group in
the interests of the Shareholders by directing and supervising its
affairs and by formulating strategic directions and monitoring the
financial and management performance of the Group.

Board Composition and Diversity

After the retirement of two Executive Directors on 1 April 2025, the
Board currently comprises six Directors, with three Executive
Directors and three INEDs. Names and biographical details of the
members of the Board are set out on pages 13 to 15 of this annual
report under “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management”
section. All of them possess the skills, experience and expertise
either in the same industry or relevant to the management of the
business of the Group.

To ensure independent views and input are available to the Board,
the following mechanisms were established by the Company during
the Year:

e sufficient number of INEDs in a total of three, representing more
than one-third of the Board:;

e no INED has served the Board for more than 9 years;

e separation of the role of the Chairman and the Managing
Director ensures that there is a balance of power and authority;
and

e annual meeting between the Chairman and all INEDs without
presence of other Directors provides an effective platform for
the Chairman to listen to independent views on various issues
concerning the Group.

During the Year, the Board reviewed the implementation of these
mechanisms and determined that they remain effective.
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TRERME

The Company also adopted the Board Diversity Policy setting out
the approach to achieve a diverse Board with a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives to the business nature of
the Company. In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity
has been considered from a wide range of aspects, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service, and any other factors that the Board may consider relevant
and applicable from time to time. The merits and contribution that
will bring to the Board for any Director proposed for re-election or
any candidate nominated to be Director will also be assessed,
taking into account the Company’s corporate strategy and the mix
of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity needed in the future.

The current Board composition reflects a diverse mix of educational
background, professional knowledge, industry experience and
length of service. The diversity mix of the Board as at 31 March
2025 is summarized as follows:

(i) Board Composition, Gender Distribution, Age Distribution and
Length of Service

Number of Directors
EEAH

8
7 INED

Y&
6 FERAT

= Male
S St
4
3

Gender
4T gzl

Designation

Age Group
FEAER

RARTERMNEFTSLZABR EFHI
ERRBEARBDXBHEMEBEE KRR &
REAZTBRMERZTTERTENTE KR
TEFGARE  FAAERZTHEEES
2t BREEARRNMER  F8 - Xk
BEER EKR BXRER- e MEAR

BEH ULREZSURARRABRERNIE
REMELREK- $/A__|JT%JTEZK/A—_IE’J

R LN BEM BRI A KR
Zltie ERMEERNRZREEEENAEM

BREETAEZFNEERABAEESHRN
BEEKER -

BERMEFSZEARRTHEBEER %%%ﬂ
o TEREBRERBEHNZ TAEAS - BE
2025 3A31H  EFE&N% Efb,\ﬂé‘@f?ﬁ
T

(i) EEEHAL  HHI53 - FhIHE
BRFHEH

6-10

Length of Serwces
(No. of years)

H&ﬁ%fﬁﬁﬂ (£)

41-60
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(ii) Directors’ Skills and Experience (i) EBFEER 5

30

Areas of Experience

BRI

Related Industry Knowledge/Experience

G ERE I d

Business Management

XBEH

Legal/Regulatory
s B

Financial & Accounting

B REF

Strategic Planning & Risk Management
KRR BN EREE

The Board’s gender diversity level was relatively high
compared to other companies listed on the Stock Exchange,
with three female directors out of eight (37.5%) as at the year
end. During the Year, the Nomination Committee and the Board
reviewed the gender diversity target of having no less than
25% female directors on the Board and considered that the
current gender diversity of the Board was appropriate,
balanced and exceeding the target set. Therefore, no timeline
or plan was proposed for further enhancing the gender
diversity of the Board for the time being. The Nomination
Committee will continue reviewing the composition of the Board
to maintain diversity.

As at 31 March 2025, our total workforce comprised of 54%
female and 46% male, whereas senior management comprised
of 37.5% female and 62.5% male. The current gender diversity
of workforce was appropriate taking into account the business
models and operational needs.

The term of appointment of the INEDs is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election provisions under the Articles of
Association and the Listing Rules. Based on the annual review
conducted by the Nomination Committee, the Board
considered each of them to be independent with reference to
the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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EREARE

Board Process EETER

Other than regular Board meetings held during the Year, additional BRRAEERITEHREEZEEIN NLFH
Board meetings, or meetings of Board committees established by RITHAREELRHE IHEEFTRUMNES
the Board to consider specific matters, were convened, when ®ZE2%ZF X LIESHTHEE-

necessary.

The attendance of the Directors at the meetings during the Year is BZERAFELEESZ B REIAOT ¢
set out below:

No. of meetings attended/held
HEES/ B ERNY

Corporate

Executive Audit  Remuneration Nomination Governance General
Name of Directors Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee Meeting
E3e2 HnREE EWZEE HMzEE REREE LXERRES REAE
Executive Directors
HEE
Mr. Alex Yeung (Note 1) 565 (C) 414 (C) - i - - /1
BRE(WZ1)

Mr. Chan Chuen Yin 5/5 4/ - - il - I
Ms. Mok Fung Lin, vy 505 4l - - - - 1
ERERT

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa 505 4/ - - - 11(C) 7
BRERL

Mr. Wong Chi Fai (Note 1) 55 414 - - - - 11
ESERL (Hi 1)

Independent Non-executive Directors

BiFinEE

Ms. Chan Yee Man 55 - 22(C) i 17 - 1
R&Znt

Mr. Chiu Kin Fai 55 - 22 - 11(C) 7 1
RRBEE

Mr. Ng Hoi Yue 55 - 212 11(C) - il n
mETEE

Total number of meeting(s) held: 5 4 2 1 1 1 1
- EE A B

C: Chairman/chairperson of the Board/committee C BFg FESIF
Note: izt :

1. Mr. Alex Yeung was appointed as Executive Director on 1 April 1. BEAENR2024F48 1 HEZEANITE

2024. He was also appointed as the Chairman of the Board, the F-HABE2024F 4 1HEEBZEREAA
Chairman of the Executive Committee and a member of the AESEIFE WITEESGTIELFIMES
Remuneration Committee of the Company in place of Mr. Wong Chi gRE EBEESBEE(ELE )
Fai (“Mr. Bryan Wong”) with effect from 1 April 2024. Mr. Bryan BEEEBEARTARTEEGHKE BEER
Wong remained as a member of the Executive Committee of the 202544 B 1 BABTES ZBIERIKLE -
Company until his retirement from position of Executive Director on

1 April 2025.
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During the Year, the Chairman held a meeting with INEDs without the
presence of Executive Directors in compliance with code provision
C.2.7 of the CG Code.

The Company received biannual confirmation from each Director
that he/she has given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of
the Company during the Year. Directors also disclosed to the
Company the changes, if any, in the number and nature of offices
they held in public companies or organisations and other significant
commitment, including the identity of the public companies or
organisations and an indication of the time involved.

Mr. Alex Yeung acts as the Chairman of the Board who provides
leadership to the Board. During the Year, the day-to-day
management of the Group was delegated by the Board to the
Managing Director, Mr. Chan Chuen Yin and the General Manager
of the Group, Ms. Mok Fung Lin, lvy who were responsible for the
Group’s strategic planning, business growth and development. The
segregation of duties made the Board and the operation of the
Group function effectively.

The Chairman sets the agenda for the Board and ensures that
members of the Board receive accurate, timely and clear
information, and that matters to be taken into consideration are
given their due weight, so that sound decisions can be made. With
the assistance of the Company Secretary, the Chairman ensures
that the Board properly exercises its powers, holds its meetings and
implements procedures in compliance with all rules and
requirements, and full and proper records are maintained.

If a Director has conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by
the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the
matter will be dealt with by a physical Board meeting rather than a
written resolution. That Director will abstain from voting on the
relevant Board resolution and he/she shall not be counted in the
quorum present at such Board meeting.

Procedures are also put in place for each Director to have access
to supporting papers and relevant information for each scheduled
meeting. All Directors also have access to the services of the
Company Secretary and her team, and may take independent
professional advice upon request, at the Company’s expense.
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Induction and Training for Directors

Newly appointed Directors will receive a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on appointment. Besides, the Company provides
Directors with regular updates on changes to and developments of
the Group’s business, and on the latest developments in the laws,
rules and regulations relating to Directors’ duties and
responsibilities to help them make informed decisions and
discharge their duties and responsibilities as Directors.

During the Year, each Director participated in continuous
professional development by attending seminars/workshops/reading
materials on the following topics to develop and refresh his/her
knowledge and skills and provided a record of training to the
Company:

Name of Directors

Mr. Alex Yeung BrRE

Mr. Chan Chuen Yin REELE
Ms. Mok Fung Lin, Ivy REELL
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa SEEIRE R L
Mr. Bryan Wong BEE

Ms. Chan Yee Man BREELL
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai RiEELLE
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue hETEE

Board Committees

To assist the Board in execution of its duties and facilitate effective
management, certain functions of the Board have been delegated
by the Board to the Executive Committee, Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate
Governance Committee.
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Executive Committee

The Executive Committee consisted of all Executive Directors
during the Year, namely Mr. Alex Yeung (Chairman of the
Committee), Mr. Chan Chuen Yin, Ms. Mok Fung Lin, lvy
(retired on 1 April 2025), Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa and
Mr. Bryan Wong (retired on 1 April 2025). It has all powers and
authorities of the Board except the following major matters as
set out in a “Formal Schedule on matters reserved for and
delegated by the Board”:

determining the Group’s objectives and strategies;

ii. approving annual and interim results and financial
reporting;

iii. declaring or recommending payment of dividends or other
distributions;

iv. approving major changes that require notification by
announcement under the Listing Rules;

v. approving publication of announcements for notifiable
transactions (except for discloseable transactions in
relation to lease transactions recognizing the right-of-use
asset according to HKFRS 16 Leases) under the Listing
Rules;

vi. approving non-exempt connected transactions/non-exempt
CCTs (other than those transactions took place from time
to time under the master agreement(s) previously
approved by the Board/Shareholders (as the case may
be)) under the Listing Rules; and

vii. approving major capital restructuring and issue of new
securities of the Company.

To advise and assist the Executive Committee on the
formulation and implementation of the environment, social and
governance (“ESG”) initiatives of the Group, a sub-committee
under the Executive Committee known as the ESG Committee
was set up. The ESG Committee consists of representatives
from operation and supporting departments and the Executive
Committee. It has the powers and authorities as delegated by
the Executive Committee to formulate and execute relevant
ESG action plan, and assess and make recommendations on
matters concerning the Group’s sustainability development and
ESG risks and opportunities.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three INEDs, namely Ms. Chan
Yee Man (Chairperson of the Committee), Mr. Chiu Kin Fai and
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are set
out in its terms of reference which include duties specified in
the CG Code and are posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

A summary of work performed by the Audit Committee during
the Year is set out as follows:

Vi

vii.

Viii.

reviewed with the management/finance personnel and/or
the independent auditor the effectiveness of audit process
and the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group, and the accuracy and fairness of the annual
consolidated financial statements for the financial year
ended 31 March 2024 (“Previous Year”) and the condensed
consolidated interim financial statements for the six months
ended 30 September 2024;

reviewed with the senior management and finance
personnel the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group for the Previous Year;

performed annual review of the non-exempt CCTs of the
Group for the Previous Year;

recommended to the Board on the re-appointment of
independent auditor at the 2024 annual general meeting
("2024 AGM");

reviewed the audit fees and the fees for non-audit services
payable to the independent auditor;

reviewed the independence of the independent auditor
and approved its engagement;

approved the audit plan for the Year; and

reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
function.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Ng Hoi Yue (Chairman of the Committee) and Ms.
Chan Yee Man, both being INEDs, and Mr. Alex Yeung, being
an Executive Director.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
are set out in its terms of reference which include duties
specified in the CG Code and are posted on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

A summary of the work performed by the Remuneration
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

reviewed the Directors’ fees and made recommendation to
the Board; and

i. reviewed the current remuneration structure/package of
the Executive Directors and senior management and
recommended the Board to approve their specific
packages.

Before making recommendation to the Board, the Remuneration
Committee has reviewed and assessed the remuneration
package of the Directors with reference to the Group’s operating
results, duties and level of responsibility of the Directors and the
prevailing market conditions. Details of the remuneration of each
of the Directors for the Year are set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, namely
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai (Chairman of the Committee) and Ms. Chan Yee
Man, both being INEDs, and Mr. Chan Chuen Yin, being an
Executive Director.

The major roles and functions of the Nomination Committee are
set out in its terms of reference which include duties specified in
the CG Code and are posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for formulating policy
and making recommendations to the Board on nomination,
appointment and re-appointment of Directors, and Board
succession pursuant to the Nomination Policy adopted by the
Company.
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The Nomination Policy aims at assisting the Nomination
Committee in identifying and nominating suitable candidates for
directorship based on the Board Diversity Policy and sets out
the nomination criteria and the nomination procedures for (i)
nominating new Director to fill a casual vacancy on the Board;
(i) making recommendation to Directors and Shareholders
regarding any Director proposed for election or re-election at
general meeting; and (iii) nomination by Shareholders on
election of new Director.

The Nomination Committee may identify potential candidates
from any source as it may consider appropriate and evaluate
them by considering various factors, including their professional
expertise, industry and business experience, time commitments,
potential contributions to board diversity, material conflict of
interest with the Group (if any) and independence (for INEDs).
The Committee will then make recommendation of suitable
candidates to the Board for consideration of appointment. In
case of re-appointment of existing Directors who will retire at
annual general meetings (“AGM”), the Committee will review
the retirement of Directors and make recommendations to the
Board accordingly.

A summary of the work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of
the Board;

ii. reviewed the Board Diversity Policy;

ii. reviewed the mechanisms implemented regarding
independent views available to the Board;

iv. reviewed the independence of the INEDs;

v. reviewed Directors’ time commitment in performing their
duties as Directors;

vi. made recommendation to the Board on the re-election of
Directors at the 2024 AGM; and

vii. reviewed the gender diversity target at Board level.
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Corporate Governance Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee (“CG Committee”)
consists of five members, namely Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa
(Chairperson of the Committee), being an Executive Director,
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai and Mr. Ng Hoi Yue, both being INEDs, a
representative from company secretarial function and a
representative from finance and accounts function.

The specific written terms of reference of the CG Committee is
available on the Company’s website. The primary duties of the
CG Committee are (i) developing and reviewing the policies
and practices on corporate governance of the Company (“CG
Policy”) and making recommendations to the Board; (ii)
reviewing and monitoring the policies and practices of the
Company on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; (iii) developing, reviewing and monitoring the
codes of conduct applicable to Directors and relevant
employees of the Group regarding dealings in the Company'’s
securities; (iv) reviewing and monitoring the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management; and (v) reviewing the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in this annual report.

A summary of the work performed by the CG Committee during
the Year is set out as follows:

reviewed the CG Policy;

ii. reviewed the policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements;

iii. reviewed the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

iv. reviewed the codes of conduct applicable to Directors and
relevant employees of the Group; and

v. reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in Corporate Governance Report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, the Company Secretary, being an employee of the
Company, duly complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules by
taking no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS OF DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted Ulferts Securities Code as its own code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors on no less
exacting terms than the required standard as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules regarding the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers. Having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, all of them confirmed that they had
complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in the
Ulferts Securities Code throughout the Year.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities to prepare the
annual consolidated financial statements of the Group and other
financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules. The
management has provided all members of the Board with monthly
updates on internal consolidated financial statements which give a
balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s
performance, position and prospects.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the Year, the
Board adopted appropriate accounting policies and applied them
consistently, made judgment and estimates that were prudent and
reasonable and ensured the consolidated financial statements were
prepared on a “going concern” basis (with supporting assumptions
or qualifications as necessary) and showed a true view of the state
of affairs of the Group for the Year. The management provided
sufficient explanation and information to the Board on the
consolidated financial statements to enable it to make an informed
assessment of the financial and other information put before it for
approval. The independent auditor of the Company made a
statement about their reporting responsibilities in the Independent
Auditor’s Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

A.

Goals and Objectives

Internal control is fundamental to the successful operation and
day-to-day running of a business and it assists a company in
achieving its business objectives. The appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems (“Risk
Control Systems”) are designed to manage rather than
eliminate risks of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The key objectives of the Risk Control Systems include:
e safeguarding assets;

e ensuring completeness, accuracy and validity of financial
records and reports;

e promoting adherence to policies, procedures, regulations
and laws; and

e promoting effectiveness and efficiency of operations.

Internal control policies and procedures within the Group are
updated regularly with the primary objective of providing
general guidance and recommendations on a basic framework
of Risk Control Systems.

A review has been conducted on (i) the Group’s internal control
measures and procedures covering governance, operational,
financial and compliance controls; and (ii) risk management
functions in the principal subsidiaries for the Year.

Internal Control

The control structure of the Risk Control Systems is set out as
follows:

1. Governance Controls
The Board

e responsible for the overall Risk Control Systems and
reviewing their effectiveness;

e oversee the Risk Control Systems on an ongoing basis
with the assistance of the Audit Committee;
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ensure the maintenance of appropriate and effective
Risk Control Systems;

define management structure with clear lines of
responsibility and limits of authority; and

determine the nature and extent of significant risks
(including ESG risks) that the Group is willing to take
in achieving the strategic objectives and formulate the
Group’s risk management strategies.

Audit Committee

review and discuss the Risk Control Systems with the
management annually to ensure that the management
has performed its duty to maintain effective Risk
Control Systems. This discussion includes the
adequacy of resources, staff qualification and
experience, training programs and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function;

review the nature and extent of significant risks
(including ESG risks), and the Group’s ability to
respond to changes in its business and the external
environment;

consider major findings on internal control matters (if
any) raised by internal or independent auditor and
make recommendations to the Board; and

review and discuss annually with the significant
control failings or weaknesses that are identified and
raised by the internal and independent auditors.

Executive Committee

review the effectiveness of ESG-related Risk Control
Systems and report to the Audit Committee for its
review.
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The management (includes Managing Director, heads of
business units, departments and divisions)

design and implement the Risk Control Systems policy
and procedures duly endorsed by senior management
and the Board;

monitor the Risk Control Systems properly and ensure
that they are executed effectively;

monitor risks and take measures to mitigate risks in
their day-to-day operations;

give prompt responses to, and follow up the findings
on internal control matters raised by internal or
independent auditors; and

provide written confirmation to the Board on the
effectiveness of the Risk Control Systems.

Internal Audit Department

carry out the analysis on sample basis and independent
appraisal of adequacy and effectiveness of the Risk
Control Systems in respect of controls of all material
aspects;

alert the management on the audit review findings or
irregularities, if any, and advise them on the implementation
of necessary steps and actions to enhance the internal
controls of the Group; and

report the results of internal audit reviews and agreed
action plans to the Audit Committee and the Board on
regular basis.
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2. Operational Controls

Approach taken: The management communicates
with relevant staff, reviews relevant documentation of
the Risk Control Systems and evaluates findings of
any deficiencies in the design of the Group’s Risk
Control Systems, provides recommendations for
improvement and assesses the effectiveness of
implementation of such recommendations, where
appropriate. The scope and findings of review on the
Risk Control Systems will be reported to and reviewed
by the Audit Committee annually.

Procedure manuals and operational guidelines:
They are in place to safeguard the assets against
unauthorized use or disposition and ensure
maintenance of proper accounting records that are in
compliance with the applicable laws, rules and
regulations for the provision of reliable financial that
are information for internal use and/or external
publication.

Procurement: The Group maintains a list of approved
suppliers for purchase of inventory. All suppliers and
their payment terms are pre-approved by Managing
Director and recorded in systems. Managing Director
stipulates the amount of inventory purchase each
month after taking into account inventory level and
sales forecast. Inventory provision policy is based on
aging position of inventory items and their condition.
All consignment items are approved by Managing
Director on a case-by-case basis.

Quality control: starting from procurement stage in
selection of furniture suppliers and product offering:

e Suppliers and manufacturers are required to
produce evidence of compliance such as test
reports, raw material suppliers’ certificates and
documents on electrical parts.

e Before placing purchase orders with any new
furniture suppliers, the procurement team will
assess their workmanship and product quality as
well as their reputation in the industry.
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For products of new design which are usually first
released in the international furniture exhibitions
and fairs, the procurement team will inspect the
products for workmanship and safety or quality
issue. Regular meetings are held between the
procurement team and the inspection and repair
team to exchange, discuss and resolve any
quality issue with the products. We also engage
independent third parties from time to time to
inspect products manufactured in the People’s
Republic of China.

For custom-made furniture, the project team
conducts pre-shipment inspection at the factory
of our outsourced manufacturers by checking of
random samples of the finished products on
workmanship and other specifications such as
size, labelling and packaging to verify that the
finished lots conform to such specifications
before delivery.

When the cargos of our products are shipped to
Hong Kong, the logistics team will check the
quantity, shipping mark and package condition of
the products upon their delivery to our warehouse.
If the Company discovers there is any damage to
the container, our logistics team will inform the
insurance broker and see if surveyors need to
attend the devanning of the container. When
devanning, the logistics team will examine the
package condition to look for defect. For products
of new model or from new supplier, our
procurement and sales team will perform checking
when the goods arrive at the store for display.

If any complaint is received in respect of any
product which is attributable to manufacturing
defect, the procurement team in conjunction with
the inspection and repair team would make a
decision as to whether or not to inspect other
pieces of the same product model from the same
shipment to see if similar manufacturing defect
occurs in the same batch of shipment.

Our management will be informed if defects are
found and our sales director will decide whether
to proceed with insurance claim and/or liaise with
the relevant supplier for negotiation of appropriate
remedy.
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Retail sales and wholesale sales: Discount policy
and credit policy are in place. All discounts offered
must be pre-approved by management. No credit is
given to retail customers. Goods refund must be
approved by management. Consignment of Ulfenbo/
Slumberland products to dealers must be approved
by Managing Director.

Management information system and technology:

e To control over the business activities, it allows
close tracking of various inputs and outputs
of the Group’s business such as inventory,
products, customer information system and
human resources. It also tracks audit trails in the
authorization system under which permissions and
responsibility of authorization are clearly identified
and adequate records can be maintained in the
Risk Control Systems.

e The transparent information flow alerts the
management promptly of any deviations.
Benchmarking with historical database and
comparisons with the same also act as a
detecting device for spotting unusual activities.

Reports and variance analysis: Reports and analysis
of each operating segment are conducted on regular
basis such that the performance of each POS and
each product category can be easily accessible.

Safeguarding of assets: A number of general
insurance policies are maintained including general
accident insurance on the asset in office, warehouse,
retail stores against robbery, burglary, fire and
flooding. Insurance for unexpected operational risks
and marine insurance for cargo shipment from
suppliers or manufacturers which are not on CIF
(Cost, Insurance and Freight) terms are also
maintained. Stocktake is conducted at least once a
year and cycle counts may be prescribed by
operation head. Daily cash count at retail shops and
reconciliation is conducted.
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3. Financial Controls

Vi

vii.

viii.

proper controls are in place for the recording of
complete, accurate and timely accounting and
management information;

annual budget and quarterly forecast on all capital
and revenue items are prepared and approved by the
management before being adopted;

the management monitors the business activities
closely and reviews monthly financial results of
operations against budgets/forecast;

regular reports on revenue, trade receivables’ ageing
and debtors’ ageing, stock ageing and internal financial
reports are prepared to the management which give a
balanced and understandable assessment of the
Group’s financial performance;

monthly updates on internal financial statements are
provided to management and all Directors which give
a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Group’s performance, financial position, liquidity and
prospects in sufficient details;

bank reconciliation is performed on monthly basis to
identify unrecorded bank transactions;

annual audit by independent auditor is carried out to
ensure that the consolidated financial statements are
prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, the Group’s accounting
policies and the applicable laws and regulations; and

daily available fund report is reviewed to monitor the
cash flows against budgets/forecast.

4. Compliance Controls

Systems and procedures on disclosure of inside
information to ensure, with the assistance of an internal
work team (if required), that any material information
which comes to the knowledge of any one or more
officers should be promptly identified, assessed and
escalated, where appropriate, for the attention of the
Board. The Board shall make timely decisions on
disclosure, if necessary, and take appropriate measures
to preserve confidentiality of inside information until
proper dissemination of inside information;
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Policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements which shall be reviewed and
monitored regularly by the CG Committee as delegated
by the Board in order to ensure that the Group is in
compliance with all the applicable laws, statues, rules
and regulations and keep up on any legal developments;

Continuing Connected Transaction Compliance
Committee is established to monitor, control and
regularly review connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions of the Group and ensure proper
compliance with all relevant laws and regulations, the
Listing Rules and disclosure requirements;

Whistle-blowing policy is established to provide
reporting channels and guidance for employees and
related third parties who have business dealings with
the Group (e.g. customers and suppliers) to raise
concerns and anonymity, in confidence, about any
suspected misconduct or malpractice within the
Group. The Audit Committee, delegated by the Board,
shall ensure that proper arrangements are in place for
fair and independent investigation of any concerns
raised, appropriate follow-up actions are taken and
other recommendations are provided, if thinks fit;

Anti-corruption policy is established to outline the
Group’s zero-tolerance stance against bribery and
corruption and assists employees in recognizing
circumstances that may lead to or give the appearance
of being involved in corruption or unethical business
conduct, so as to avoid such conduct which is clearly
prohibited, and to promptly seek guidance where
necessary or report any reasonably suspected case of
corruption or any attempts thereof, to the management
through an appropriate reporting channel; and

Anti-money laundering and counter-terrorist
financing policy and procedures is established to
set out the general framework for combating crime
against money laundering and financing of terrorism.
It provides guideline to prevent the Group’s employees
and clients/customers/suppliers/vendors/contractors
from being misused for money laundering, terrorist
financing or other financial crime and has set
out some indications of potentially suspicious
transactions/activities for employees’ reference.
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Review of Internal Controls

Effectiveness of internal controls is tested by Internal Audit
Department regularly. Internal audit reviews and agreed action
plans should be reported to the Audit Committee and the Board on
timely basis.

C. Risk Management

1.

Risk Management Process

The management regularly reviews overall risks facing by
the Group and changes in market environment. The risk
management process includes risk identification,
evaluation, management and control measures.

The management is entrusted with duties to identify,
analyze, evaluate, respond, monitor and communicate
risks associated with any activity, function or process
within its scope of responsibility and authority. Risks are
evaluated by the Board and management based on (i) the
severity of the impact of the risks on the Group’s financial
results; (ii) the probability and frequency that the risks will
occur; and (iii) the velocity or speed at which risks can
occur.

Based on the risk evaluation, the Company will manage
the risks as follows:

e Risk elimination — the management may identify and
implement certain changes or controls that in effect
eliminate the risk entirely.

e Risk mitigation — the management may implement
risk mitigation plan designed to reduce the likelihood,
velocity or severity of the risk to an acceptable level
or contingency plan for possible loss scenarios.

e Risk control and monitoring - it involves making
decisions regarding which risks are acceptable and
how to address those that are not; accidents and
other situations involving loss or near-loss will be
investigated and properly documented as part of the
effort to manage risks.

e Risk retention — the management may decide that the
risk rating is low enough that the risk is at acceptable
level and no action is required and the risk will
continue to be monitored as part of the risk
management program to ensure the level of risk does
not increase to an unacceptable level.
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2. Significant Risks and Strategies

Certain significant risks (including ESG risks) have been
identified through the process of risk identification and
assessment. Such significant risks of the Group and their
key strategies/control measures are set out below:

i.  Decline in consumption demand resulted from downturn in
economic, keen market competition and price war among
the rivals

Facing the unfavorable market situation, the Group:

proactively manages the Group’s geographical
presences and develops alternative sales channel
including online shopping;

optimizes business operations and shop
establishments;

takes stringent cost control measures including
human resources streamline plan, rental concession/
reduction negotiation with landlord, consolidation
and close loss-making showrooms

closely monitors inventory level,

offers more promotion discount to boost sales;
and

introduces new products and improves synergy
to gain new market segment and channels.

ii.  Reliance on Hong Kong market

To diversify the market exposure, the Group explores
online option with no territorial limitation.
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iii. ~ Shop location and rental expenses iii. EENERMESEY
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Shop rental is always the key cost component of the
Group. The significant fluctuation of shop rents may
affect the Group’s profitability. The Company seeks to

50

developers, keep abreast of rental of premises in
the vicinity to cater for showroom replacement, if
required.

Explore other locations with good potential at
reasonable level. Traffic and relative position to
competitors nearby are also evaluated.

Perform profitability forecast to determine
financial viability.

Closely monitor individual shop performance and
profitability to determine their renewal options.

Set up pop up stores at low rent to learn more
about the foot traffic and spending power of the
location before setting up a long-term showroom.

Critically review and consolidate its POS and
roadshows to take into account the impact of
decline in consumption.

Negotiate with landlords for rental reduction and
seek to introduce break clause in the tenancy
agreements to provide flexibility in case of further
downturn in business.

Reorganize and optimize the use of warehouse
space to reduce warehouse rental.
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Product selection

Product selection is the area where the Group should
focus on in order to make sure that we stay ahead of
the competition:

e The Group maintains a high quality purchasing
team with good market trend knowledge.

e Regular sales meeting to review the sales trend
and market response to products.

e  Visit suppliers and furniture fairs to keep abreast
of latest product trend and market information.

e  Collect customer feedback on product improvements.

Inventories turnover management

A higher, or quicker, inventory turnover decreases the
cash conversion cycle. An effective inventories
turnover management is in place:

e Regular review on inventory ageing position and
compare with sales forecast and market trend.

e Maintain close business relationship and
communication with manufacturers to strive for
optimal and timely supply.

e Hold bargain sale for long aged items.

e Select suppliers that have no minimum order
quantity.

Fraudsters seized the opportunity to generate deepfakes
with deep learning artificial intelligence models and use
them for identity fraud and other kinds of scams

e Take extra precautions and double confirm before
following instructions and make payments.

e Stay informed and educate staff on the latest
cyber threats and fraud.
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vii. Cyber security risk

The Company’s information technology
infrastructure is regularly scanned and patched.

Risky external Internet Protocol addresses are
blocked.

Emails are filtered for spam and malware and
training about dangerous email attachments are

provided.

Install specialized ransomware/virus detection
software in all computers.

Access rights to the Group’s systems are strictly
controlled and regularly reviewed.

Regular backups of data for recovery.

Keep software up to date.

viii. Collectability of trade

Credit limit and period of new customers is
approved by Financial Controller, and/or
Managing Director.

Review regularly and closely monitor ageing
position of receivables.
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D. Management Confirmation D.

The Board acknowledged that it had received a confirmation
from the management on the effectiveness of the Risk Control
Systems of the Group for the Year. The Audit Committee and the
Board, upon reviewing the Risk Control Systems, were not
aware of any significant issues that would have a material
adverse impact on the effectiveness and adequacy of the
Group’s operational, financial and compliance areas of the Risk
Control Systems.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company had adopted a dividend policy setting out the
principles for the Board to determine appropriate amount of
dividend to be distributed to the Shareholders. The Company
intends to provide Shareholders with regular interim and final
dividends (as the case may be) based on the earnings attributable
to its Shareholders after taking into consideration of the factors as
stated in the policy, including inter alia, (i) cash flow requirements
for business operations; (ii) cash available, financial liabilities and
capital commitment; (iii) market environment and challenges; and
(iv) future development and investment opportunities. The
declaration of dividends or recommendation on such payment shall
be subject to all applicable laws, rules and regulations including
but not limited to the Listing Rules, the Companies Ordinance and
the Articles of Association.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company’s Shareholders’ Communication Policy (available on
the website of the Company) sets out the strategies, practices and
commitment for maintaining ongoing and effective communication
with Shareholders, both individual and institutional, and in
appropriate circumstances, the investment community at large so as
to enable them to engage with the Company and exercise their rights
as Shareholders in an informed manner. To this end, the Company
strives to ensure that all Shareholders have ready and timely access
to all publicly available information of the Group. To facilitate
communication with the Shareholders and the investment community,
the Company has established various communication channels, as
follows: (i) the holding of AGMs and extraordinary general meetings,
if any, which may be convened for specific purposes to provide
opportunities for the Shareholders to communicate directly with the
Board; (ii) the publication of announcements, annual reports, interim
reports and/or circulars as required under the Listing Rules and
press releases providing updated information of the Group; (iii) the
availability of latest information of the Group on the Company’s
website at https://www.UlfertsIntl.com; (iv) the holding of press
conference(s) from time to time; and (v) meeting with investors and
analysts when necessary.

General presentations are made by the Company when financial
results are announced and dialogue with institutional Shareholders
is made from time to time. Shareholders and investors are welcome
to visit the Company’s website to raise enquiries through our
Investor Relations Department whose contact details are available
on the Company’s website and the “Corporate Information and Key
Dates” section of this annual report.
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The Chairman of the Board and the chairman/members of the Board
Committees, appropriate management executives and the
independent auditor (as the case may be) are available to attend
the general meetings to answer questions from the Shareholders.

The Company shall review the Shareholders’ Communication Policy
annually to ensure its implementation and effectiveness. Having
considered the multiple channels of communication and
engagement in place, the Board is satisfied that the Shareholders’
Communication Policy was properly in place during the Year and
remains effective.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the Shareholders as
required to be disclosed pursuant to the CG Code:

Right to Convene/Call General Meetings

Shareholders representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all
Shareholders having a right to vote at general meetings may
request the Directors to call a general meeting of the Company. The
requesting Shareholders must state in their request the general
nature of the business to be dealt with and may include the text of a
resolution to be moved at the meeting. The request may consist of
several documents in like form and may be sent to the registered
office of Company for the attention of the Company Secretary in
hard copy form or in electronic form and must be authenticated by
the requesting Shareholders. Having verified request, the Board will
convene a general meeting within 21 days. Such meeting must be
held on a date not more than 28 days after the date of the notice
convening the meeting and such notice must include notice of the
resolution.

If the Directors do not within 21 days as stated above to call a
general meeting, the requesting Shareholders representing more
than one half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
themselves call a general meeting, but the meeting so convened
must be called for a date not more than 3 months after the Directors
become subject to the requirement to call a meeting.
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Putting Forward Proposals at AGMs

Shareholder(s) representing (i) at least 2.5% of the total voting
rights of all Shareholders; or (ii) at least 50 Shareholders having a
right to vote on the resolution at the AGM may request the Company
to circulate a notice of a resolution to be moved at that meeting.
Such request must identify the resolution to be moved at the AGM,
must be authenticated by the relevant Shareholder(s) and sent to
the Company for the attention of the Company Secretary in hard
copy form or in electronic form not later than 6 weeks before the
relevant AGM or if later, the time when the notice of AGM is
despatched.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director are available for viewing on the Company’s
website.

Enquires from Shareholders

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings
to the Company’s share registrar, Union Registrars Limited. Other
Shareholders’ enquiries can be directed to the Investor Relations
Department of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were no significant changes in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the Year.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE AND REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee is mandated to review and monitor the
independence of the auditor to ensure objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with applicable standards. Members of
the Audit Committee were of the view that Messrs. Ernst & Young
(“EY”) was independent and recommended the Board to propose its
re-appointment as the Company’s independent auditor at the 2025
AGM. During the Year, EY had rendered audit and non-audit
services to the Group. The fees in respect of audit and non-audit
services provided by EY for the Year amounted to HK$700,000 and
nil, respectively.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
CEMVE SR

EY::

To the members of Ulferts International Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ulferts
International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 63 to 135, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("“HKSAs”) as issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBRZAE
Annual Report 2024/2025

BEXLEIRARARRE
(REEBHEMRILZ BRAF)

E:
=
=

KA EIIEHNECIEEE 135 ENRLE
BRERAR(TERR ) RENBAR (TE5
DHBEEHERE  MEESVBERREER
2025 F 38N HMN GG BN AFREREZ
HIEFENGEAERREME2EKERR e
ERBRIEARESRNER UNEEHE
WERME BREEASFBERER -

BB R ZEREUBEREREREEBEF
A ("TEBSEAS ) BOMN (EEYE
HELAGHER) EEMARMRRY &
£EN2025F 38 31 AR S MBI KB
ERALFENGEMBRERGERERN
& WEBREE (ARKRE) NWIKERELR

BRAVER

BFHEREEEBSTMASEMN (EBER
A ("TEBEFER ) ETER - BMAE
ZELEATRENEECEARS " REAMH
B O BN E A DR~
T RESTESTMAGRMN(EXS
sERERSTRD (TSFRL) BABLR 8%
B YERITTRTFNHMEXRERSE &
fAEE - BRMAMESNETRERTCNER
MRBMNESFEREEER -




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
CEMVE S MR

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit
addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion
on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

RS EEtEIR

FASEEETSIR

BREFFESRERMANIXRAE R
RPREUBERENENRBEEZNEER - &
LERBRRANREMBRRERETENALN
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FTaiTRER  RESYBERRBERERER
EREMTER-

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
HMR TN ERIZRAREFH

Write-down of inventories fo net realisable value

Wil B E o] @I FE

The Group had inventories with a carrying amount of
approximately HK$30,230,000 as at 31 March 2025.
The Group periodically reviews the net realisable
value of inventories to determine whether any write-
down of inventories to their net realisable value is
required. In estimating the net realisable value of
inventories, the Group considers, inter alia, the nature,
ageing and condition of inventories, current market
condition and other relevant factors.
E5EN2025F3 83108 KRHEE#X 30,230,000 % 7T
REE. BEEBRHUGECUZ2RFEETEHES L
EERAREAREMBRERZREE - HEAREZA
BRFER AEESEE(HPERE )FEZHE  EiR
FARRE ~ AT R N EMEBREE -

We evaluated management’'s assessment of whether
the Group’s inventories were stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Our procedures
included evaluating the methodologies, inputs and
assumptions used by the Group in determining the net
realisable value of inventories and the write-down of
inventories required, with reference to, inter alia, the
nature, ageing and condition of inventories, historical
and subsequent sales information, and current market
condition.

BB EEEN SEXEEIFERDRNAHEAEIR
FEENREEZIAMEZTE - HANTREFEE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BRI RS

Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter

FABtEEt EIR

RAREETEIE (%)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
KM E NIRRT E1E

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value (continued)

Wi FE E o] S5 FE (4E)

The determination of the net realisable value of
inventories requires management to make significant
assumptions and estimates that affect the reported
amount of inventories and related disclosures.
EERECIZ2RFETEEREBEHERBR LM
HARERE RSB NEBREE -

We focused on this matter due to the magnitude of the
balance involved and the significant accounting
judgements and estimates required in estimating the
net realisable value of inventories.

BN ARERcTEEN BAsTRECIEREES
ERBARGAIE R BEPEEIENREESFE -

The related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 14
to the consolidated financial statements.

HEREENBNGE Y BHERMEI L 14 -

Key audit matter

BB EIE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
RO EEH A REIERA R BT B

Impairment assessment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

YE BERZBUREHESEZHEFFG

The Group’s management performed impairment
assessment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets as they considered that there
were indicators of impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets as at 31 March
2025 due to losses recorded by the Group for the
year. The recoverable amounts of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets were estimated
based on value-in-use calculations.

HR BXEERAFEREEE S£EEEEARAY
X BMEARBUREREEENR 202543331 HHIR
BER - BB BB RRIBLANEREEEETR
BEFTfE - M2 BB NRBLRERREE  ATIREI S
TRBEREEFEFL A -

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBRZAE
Annual Report 2024/2025

We evaluated the Group’s policy and procedures
in identifying impairment indicators and assessed
management’s significant assumptions used in
the value-in-use calculations by (i) comparing the
budgeted turnover and operating expenses with
historical results; (ii) assessing the sensitivity of
management’'s estimates and assumptions used in
evaluating whether a reasonably possible change
in assumptions could cause the carrying amounts
to exceed their recoverable amounts; and (iii) we
also involved our internal valuation specialists to
assist us in assessing the valuation methodology and
calculation of the value-in-use, including the discount
rate.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BRI RS

Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matter

RAEEEI SR

RASREETEIE (%)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMES NI EERIREI RN

Impairment assessment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (continued)

YF  BERZEUAREFEEEZHESE (F)

During the year, the Group recorded impairment of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
of HK$1,715,000 and HK$14,367,000, respectively,
to reduce the carrying amounts of these assets to the
recoverable amounts.

In addition, we evaluated the adequacy of financial
statement disclosures relating to impairment of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.
besh BT EMBRERES R KEDZE - BB NHR
DR GRS ERIE -

FR> EXEEHEWE BREARBLULAGEHEEER
B9 B A 1,715,000 7T M 14,367,000 70 » Uz
EEMNKRMERDZ A OIS EE -

Significant judgements and estimates were involved
in the assessment of the recoverable amounts of the
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.
SR S BB MRIBUANE R REE 2 AT £ 585 &
BRFIVE R ALET -

The related disclosures are included in notes 3, 12
and 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

HEREENBN e Y IBEWARMTES ~ 12213 °

Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
CEMVE SR

Responsibhilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

Ulferts International Limited BX{LEIfSZERAR]
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
CEMVE S MR

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the MBI TR S M BHRRAED
consolidated financial statements (continued) s5E @)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise T1EIRIK (EABFTER) HEITHTHVBES &
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism IER T HEHE RFTEXEREE - &
throughout the audit. We also: 978

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
CEMVE SR

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

e Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chung Chi Ming (practising certificate number:
P06758).

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

25 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meBnkEth2EaR

Year ended 31 March 2025 & Z 2025438318 IFFEE

2025 2024

Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

BffEE FHET FHET
REVENUE WA 5 153,021 171,638
Cost of sales $8 & A (64,717) (71,979)
Gross profit A 88,304 99,659
Other income and gains EH AW A K 5 4,321 4,271
Selling and distribution expenses & K& 245552 (88,762) (96,945)
General and administrative expenses —f& & {TEFIX (22,318) (23,680)
Other expenses E 55z (16,082) (5,217)
Finance costs 81754 6 (1,645) (2,717)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BRELEIEE 7 (36,182) (24,629)
Income tax expense FTEHiFIsZ 10 (4,836) (377)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR AND TOTAL (41,018) (25,006)

COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR
FABERFAREERRER

Attributable to: fE{f :
Owners of the parent AR HHE A (41,018) (25,006)

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 11
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
BRAREBRERES ARGERER

Basic and diluted (expressed in HK cents per share) (5.13) (8.13)
EARREE (GRLUBLAENL)

Ulferts International Limited BX{LEIFEBRA R
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
= MR ER

31 March 2025 202583831H

2025

Notes HK$’ 000
P EE FET

NON-CURRENT ASSETS JERENEE

2024

HK$’ 000
FET

Property, plant and equipment ¥ ~ [z M &% 12 308 3,052
Right-of-use assets S E 13 - 27,460
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 16 1,676 4,125
TANFIR ~ e REAMMERERIE

Deferred tax assets ELERLIEEE 20 - 4,836
Total non-current assets IERENEEALE 1,984 39,473
CURRENT ASSETS #iBNE&E

Inventories & 14 30,230 41,127
Trade receivables & 5B FIE 15 2,258 3,901
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 16 16,980 17,324
TAFIR ~ e R EAEWERIE

Cash and cash equivalents & KIFESEY) 27,268 43,358
Total current assets BN & ELLE 76,736 105,710
CURRENT LIABILITIES Migh& &

Trade and bills payables & 2 FE{Y 5018 M B 2% 17 1,012 2,285
Other payables and accruals E A fER FIE K fERTE A 18 25,463 27,650
Lease liabilities fAE & & 13 16,595 28,300
Provisions /& 19 7,972 5,663
Tax payable FEfTHIE 1,090 1,090
Total current liabilities B & (E4E%8 52,132 64,988
NET CURRENT ASSETS & & &E$E 24,604 40,722
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 26,588 80,195
REERNBIAE

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 3EREI& &

Lease liabilities fHE &1& 13 1,871 10,889
Provisions /& 19 1,024 4,595
Total non-current liabilities JEJREN & (E48%8 2,895 15,484
Net assets &EFE 23,693 64,711

Ulferts International Limited BX{LEIfSZERAR]
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
iR e AR

31 March 2025 202543831H

2025 2024
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TET TET
EQUITY #3%
Equity attributable to owners of the parent B4 B #HE A FE(L#E2SE
Share capital A& 21 110,337 110,337
Accumulated losses Z:tE518 (86,644) (45,626)
Total equity HEx%42%E 23,693 64,711
Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander Chan Chuen Yin
BB RS
Director Director
=2 £
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEREER

Year ended 31 March 2025 & Z 2025438310 IFEE

Share Accumulated Total
capital losses equity
&N REtEia A ke
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

THET FET TET
At 1 April 2023 722023448 1H 110,337 (20,620) 89,717
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year - (25,006) (25,006)
FRBENRDEEIRERE
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 110,337 (45,626) 64,711
7220244 3H 310 M 2024F 45 18
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year — (41,018) (41,018)
FRBENEEEIBERE
At 31 March 2025 72025438 31H 110,337 (86,644) 23,693

Ulferts International Limited BX{LEIfSZERAR]
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
ReRERE

Year ended 31 March 2025 & Z 2025438310 IFFEE

2025

HK$’ 000
FAET

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES KR&FEIRESAE

2024

HK$’ 000
FET

Loss before tax BrFiRIE 18 (36,182) (24,629)
Adjustments for: LA TR IEFTERE ¢
Finance costs BI#E A 6 1,645 2717
Interest income | EUA 5 (716) (1,701)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7 1,867 2,435
M-~ BB RERBITE
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {FREEE & 7 24,783 31,500
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 7 1,715 442
W R R A A
Impairment of right-of-use assets {& FA#EE &2 BE 7 14,367 4,775
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of trade receivables, net 7 (170) 63
E ZIRWGEIERE, (#ERE)  F8
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) of inventories 7 (2,481) 747
to net realisable value
WORL (B EIHOR ) FEZ A #IRFE
4,828 16,349
Decrease in inventories &8 13,378 1,765
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables B ZEWEIER A (#10) 1,813 (879)
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and other receivables 2,764 7,577
TENFRIA ~ 12S NE DB BGRIE R
Decrease in trade and bills payables 28 3 B2k 18 K FE 1 Z 45 54 (1,273) (2,914)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals (2,187) 3,630
Hib NI R ESTE RN, O )
Decrease in provisions # R4 (1,262) (4)
Cash generated from operations K& EEFFERS 18,061 25,524
Interest received EMFI & 716 1,701
Hong Kong profits tax refunded REEHFEH - 853
Net cash flows from operating activities K& EB BRSNS T8 18,777 28,078
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
meRERE

Year ended 31 March 2025 & Z 2025438310 IFEE

2025 2024

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET

CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES & 58)ffAIRSRE

Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment (838) (2,641)
BEVE - BRENFRBIEER

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES R& &8RS mE

Principal portion of lease payments & & AL E D (32,384) (41,421)
Interest portion of lease payments &Ik 2 K| 825 (1,645) (2,717)
Net cash flows used in financing activities B & EBITAIRS 548 (34,029) (44,138)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (16,090) (18,701)
RE LIRS EBYRA TR

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 43,358 62,059
FORERIBSEEY

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 27,268 43,358
ERBENIBESEEY

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Re KRS SEUERN

Cash and bank balances IR& N ER1T45 8% 27,268 43,358
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 #Z2025F 38315 IHFE

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Ulferts International Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The registered
office of the Company is located at Units 1905-07, 19th Floor,
Emperor Group Centre, 288 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong.

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 29 January 2018.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the
year, the Company’s subsidiaries were involved in the following
principal activities:

e retail of imported furniture
e wholesale of imported furniture
e  project sales (“special projects”)

The immediate holding company of the Company is Ulferts
International Group Holdings Limited, which is incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, Albert Yeung
Investments Holdings Limited (“AY Investments Holdings”)
(incorporated in the BVI) is the ultimate holding company of the
Company which is in turn held by First Trust Management AG
acting as the trustee of Albert Yeung Investments Discretionary
Trust, a private discretionary trust set up by Dr. Yeung Sau
Shing, Albert (“Dr. Yeung”).

For the purpose of these consolidated financial statements, all
companies directly or indirectly controlled by respective private
discretionary trusts set up by Dr. Yeung other than the Group
are collectively referred to as the “Emperor Group”.

NEIREEER
LB RAR ("TAAT ) REBTE
MLz BREMEAT - AABFMRE
BRI A B BB T 5B 288 R 2
EE R 1942 1905-07 F ©

AAB KM E2018FE 120 HEERH
BMERXZABERAT (THEF,) ERE
T-Eo

RRBRREZKAT - FR > REEM
BARMEELUTERER -

o EOBRMTE
o EDEMILE
« EHHEE(TIREBR.D

RPN EEZERATD RN RBRELES
("TRBREZES 1) ML HI B L BB
SEZEKRERAT -

KARESZRA NEE R A Bz
NEXAREZERERAT (B KKRE
ZRE J) RADNTNRBRIZERAT - BB
L EPERG R First Trust Management AGTE
& Albert Yeung Investments Discretionary
Truste XEEARA » ZEARGIAEL
(MEHEL ) TR L2 FAARIBIE5E

AZEGEMBREMS  IAXBELT
Frst iz & BRI AR IS5 st B s AT 6l
MEZAEEZH 2 ATDHRBR T RE
EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=& M ERRMIGE

31 March 2025 (% 20259383 1HIEFE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. RRAREEEH (#)

Information about subsidiaries BRMBATZEH
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as AKABEEWBARZFHEBUNT -
follows:

Place of Issued Percentage of
incorporation/ ordinary equity attributable Principal
operation share capital to the Company activities

sEfAAL iEEHE ERTEERES ALFREGEIESLE FTEEB

Direct Indirect

B %
Ulferts International BVI US$1 100% — Investment holding
Investment Limited RERUHEE e WEZR

BB IR ERRAT

Ulferts of Sweden Hong Kong HK$350,000 - 100% Retail and wholesale
(Far East) Limited 58 350,000787C of imported
HEaER(L (JER) furniture, and
BRAF special projects
EORMTEHEBBR
TEIEH
Ulferts of Sweden Macau MOP25,000 - 100% Liaising with project
(Macau) Limited P 25,000;8F9 7T customers in Macau
WuaER b (CEPT) B RfIEE R
BRAR
Mighty Wish Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100% Provision of group
EEZHRAT B 1,000,000 7T tenancy agent
services
REHEERERE
R 75
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in EERR LXRMICAKATHRBARTS
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for FEREFEXENBRAEEEEFE
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the BERHDHNBLAR - EERA 2HE
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the B AR FIEEERRBENTTR -
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 #Z2025F 38315 IHFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. HEBUR
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 2.1 REER

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs”) and Interpretations) as issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention. These
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand (“HK$'000”) except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2025. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the
date that such control ceases.

EHREMBERRERBE B GTM
NE(TERBGEAE ) AEMZ
BB HmRELERN SR (BIERT
BEEBYHBREER BB ER
("EBGFEA ) KRB ULER
NEROIT LURE - 7B BHREKT)
RS RAERE - ARG IEHE
BB (THETT ) 25 mkz8
FPEIN 2EEEYARERED
FrR(FHEIT) e

EHEE

BEVBHREREEAQTRENRBA
A(HBTAREER,) REE2025F
AN HIEFECHEREK - WHEA
ARAANDEEXMEELEHz—EE
B(BEAEBEEE) WAEES
BEEFRERTEEMZ ARG RN
BRI EFT A% BHEEDT
FEHRES RN EEE 0% 8
AEBMHEE LB 26 (BIRE
BYAEBESHRKEFEBRESZ
REF] ) o

—®ERT B—EEE &K
SR ARIEFIE - (HAARHRZH
BRETREEIE LR ER B ¥
2 BIFTEARAHERETRE
BN AEEeERMERBERE
RiER B

(a) BEZFEREDHEMEREFEA
BN

(b) MEMENRIFRELZEAR
N4

(c) AEERERNEBEERERE-

MBAR Y BERKRZARAM
RMERE— B S BRRER - W
BARZFET B AEE RS ZEHE
ZBETLUGH  WHENASHE
F BEEABREFI KL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 ERaRbEE

31 March 2025 &, Z2025F3831HILEE
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any
non-controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation
reserve; and recognises the fair value of any investment
retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss.
The Group’s share of components previously recognised in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRS

Accounting Standards for the first time for the current

year’'s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)

Amendments to HKAS 1

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBRZAE
Annual Report 2024/2025

2.1
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2. FETEUR (%)

B ()
EHEE (1)
HAREREATERSEEZATA
SEREERARE B WA
XRBREREVNFREREFEHY

HEBRBERBR XAl =18
BEHER—IENZIRHEEZE) &
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Bl RAREZGIEZWBARMEE

BERBPARSERR S °

HAEERXEH—ENBATES
B AIERIERREEEE (BED
B2) 86 EMFEREDZNER
KRB YN BREREARER
BN HEREMREILEL 2 BIRK
AL - SERTN Ef 2 I E N ERZ
REERMLEIBENDBRERN
REEN (WER) BENAEER
EEERHERBEERABERCEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 #Z2025F 38315 IHFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards are described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements
that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability
arising in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the
seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain
or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. Since the
Group has no sale and leaseback transactions with
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate occurring from the date of initial application of
HKFRS 16, the amendments did not have any impact on
the financial position or performance of the Group.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a
right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting
period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is
itself accounted for as an equity instrument would the
terms of a liability not impact its classification. The 2022
Amendments further clarify that, among covenants of a
liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with
which an entity must comply on or before the reporting
date affect the classification of that liability as current or
non-current. Additional disclosures are required for non-
current liabilities that are subject to the entity complying
with future covenants within 12 months after the
reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of
its liabilities as at 1 April 2023 and 2024 and concluded
that the classification of its liabilities as current or non-
current remained unchanged upon initial application of
the amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did not
have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

EETEUR (#8)
2.2 B BURRIEE 28 (&)

RIETEBYBREERSFHERZ
MERFESINT

(a)

ERUBEBREEURI16RZE
SRR EEREERSEL
ZHEEREMANET —AEA
ZHBTE - FERETT —AHEAR
SHERAMREEREERNE
MEHSE - HRAKEBEBERX
EREEBMBREENE 1658
Z BRI AT A & Y SR AR
BESANEXNWERELOR S &
FBIAHAREBIT BRI
KREWFEEATE -

2020 BRI A B EBEN S
BB IERE CRE - BIEE
A E & BRI FRIE 2 #EF| 078
RFERRGECRE - BEN
DEAZZERTERANITIERS
EH R REMEFT R E - ZFEFT AN
BEaEURERSG R ATE
REE MidTBRKREeEs ik
BARBERKATEAANRK A&
BEZIERAEREHE N 2022
FEITARLUE—FEE HHE
REFEECEEZRLR &
ERWANIRE B2 BIEST
NZELETERZEENER
MENRIERE) - AR EENRE
BREB12EB RETFRKRZHE
ZIEMBEEIFHRAIMEEE -

REBEEHFEENR 2023 F
N2024F 4B 1B A GRER
Eftt URHERRBAREEE
MBI REN DR EORE R
ZEF BRI AR AE - A
ZFEITAHAREBN T BT
RIRIEEMFE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ERRMIEE

31 March 2025 #Z 20259 3831HIEFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

2. FEHBUR ()
2.2 BHBRRINE 2 S8 (5)

(¢) Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the (c) BB ENSETREEBYE
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and WMEERE 7 RABFTARBEEH
require additional disclosure of such arrangements. The FER R E R SR AR /R RR
disclosure requirements in the amendments are IMEBEZELH - ZFEBITAN
intended to assist users of financial statements in WERESTHPIBIREER
understanding the effects of supplier finance ERpUERRERIHERS
arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and B - RERBIABDESRARHN
exposure to liquidity risk. As the Group does not have T HRASEN R ERR
supplier finance arrangements, the amendments did B 2B AHARERK
not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated BB REL BT ATE -
financial statements.

2.3 CSHEMERREN T EMHEER
HAERIEET 2R
REBI RN ZFHREMBRETIE
LI E BB i R ERU #ra] KA
BRI BB R EER SFHER - A5
BERNZENE] BT BB B R
HEAISEER (B ) ERE T

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRS Accounting Standards, that have been issued but are
not yet effective, in these consolidated financial statements.
The Group intends to apply these new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards, if applicable, when they become

74

effective. FEM -
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in ERMFERERER AFREES
Financial Statements? £ 18358 R#FEE
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public HEMBERELER FARTEEL
Accountability: Disclosures® £ 19537 AT
#wE
Amendments to Amendments to the HFEM RS EET A
HKFRS 9 Classification and ERIEIOFENTET  KRIEZEET
and HKFRS 7 Measurement of Financial BB EYER] K2
Instruments? BTHRZETR
Amendments to Contracts Referencing Nature- BERMBRE B RIKEEAEE
HKFRS 9 dependent Electricity? HRAFEIRLE REEZEHZ
and HKFRS 7 BB EER 5492
BB A
Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets ERMERE KREEFHABZ
HKFRS 10 between an Investor and its Q1058 & REHEER
and HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture* HESEAE  EEAHESE
28 SRZIERT R NEE
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability' BEBGTHENE RO RREMT
21 R IERT R
Annual Improvements to  Amendments to HKFRS 1, BB BEHR G BRI ERELER
HKFRS Accounting HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS EAIEE Rz SR BEN
Standards — Volume 11 10 and HKAS 72 FEKE—-Z 11 BHREEAET
# 58 SBMER
EERIZE 95
BEMEREE
BIEE 1088 &
BEEIERIET
S BT A2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 #Z2025F 38315 IHFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EEEUER (@)
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING 2.3 ERBEBREVN2EEUHBE

STANDARDS (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026

8 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2027

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available
for adoption

Further information about those HKFRS Accounting
Standards that are expected to be applicable to the Group
is described below.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. While a number of sections have been
brought forward from HKAS 1 with limited changes, HKFRS
18 introduces new requirements for presentation within the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, including specified totals and subtotals. Entities
are required to classify all income and expenses within the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income into one of the five categories: operating,
investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued
operations and to present two new defined subtotals. It
also requires disclosures about management-defined
performance measures in a single note and introduces
enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation and
disaggregation) and the location of information in both the
primary financial statements and the notes. Some
requirements previously included in HKAS 1 are moved to
HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as HKAS 8 Basis
of Preparation of Financial Statements. As a consequence
of the issuance of HKFRS 18, limited, but widely
applicable, amendments are made to HKAS 7 Statement of
Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per Share and HKAS 34
Interim Financial Reporting. In addition, there are minor
consequential amendments to other HKFRS Accounting
Standards. HKFRS 18 and the consequential amendments
to other HKFRS Accounting Standards are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with
earlier application permitted. Retrospective application is
required. The Group is currently analysing the new
requirements and assessing the impact of HKFRS 18 on
the presentation and disclosure of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

EAERIEETAER (47)
T R2025F TR TR RRABZ

FEHREAER

7 R2026F 1B 1HESzBERKAZ
FEHBAER

P R2027TFETAVHBHERBZ
FEREBEER

¢ REEBRGIEZBE HEIRAER

S ER N AL B ZS T A
B4 RE B EHER Y E— 5 B
—FO

EBUBEREEAFE18HERES
B EAFE 1R FHRKXCZS - &
HAEESTEAE1RETESNE
HIEBRES R BHHEHRE
ZRZE18RE| ANBBERER LHEM
2EWBEARINCHEE BFEE
EMREEt F/NETIRE - BERZAKER
K H At 2T U R 52 N 2 BB W\ K
TAERUTABERN— K&
KRE @& FIBRNEER RS
% W25 WIE T EZ/NFTIER -
HRERAEBLM T IEEREEE
EE2EETE WINREEETEY
BwELANERER 2 H (EER
D) RIBUBZRE  LBIBS
NEEZFTEINEZ1HRZBAIREE
BEEBITHER BRI HE
DEEATEERENE BEBRR
BB S EAFE SR BRECHE
HE - HRBEME B HEHREENS
1855 BB ENBTRESHE
F BB EREIBREREF
LEBQTTERE 4 AU ER
EEEHBREECERZEE] - It
G BB B B REER S5 &R
THEEMEREE] - BEHEREE
A28 18 5% S H{th & & B 75 3R &5 % Al
EEERIZ B BB R 2027 FE1 A1
Al BRme FERBER > Ln
FFiIREER . FEEWER - A5HE
WIEATHRE » WIEFHEBH B
WEEANFISHHREBRGFE VB
M2 REBEHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=& M ERRMIGE
31 March 2025 8 Z 20255383 1HILEE
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING

2. FEHBUR ()
2.3 CHEGENKRERZEEHER

STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced
disclosure requirements while still applying the
recognition, measurement and presentation requirements
in other HKFRS Accounting Standards. To be eligible, at
the end of the reporting period, an entity must be a
subsidiary as defined in HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements, cannot have public accountability and must
have a parent (ultimate or intermediate) that prepares
consolidated financial statements available for public use
which comply with HKFRS Accounting Standards. Earlier
application is permitted. As the Company is a listed
company, it is not eligible to elect to apply HKFRS 19.
Some of the Company’s subsidiaries are considering the
application of HKFRS 19 in their specified financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to
the Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments clarify the date on which a financial asset or
financial liability is derecognised and introduce an
accounting policy option to derecognise a financial liability
that is settled through an electronic payment system
before the settlement date if specified criteria are met. The
amendments clarify how to assess the contractual cash
flow characteristics of financial assets with environmental,
social and governance and other similar contingent
features. Moreover, the amendments clarify the
requirements for classifying financial assets with non-
recourse features and contractually linked instruments.
The amendments also include additional disclosures for
investments in equity instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income and financial
instruments with contingent features. The amendments
shall be applied retrospectively with an adjustment to
opening retained profits (or other component of equity) at
the initial application date. Prior periods are not required
to be restated and can only be restated without the use of
hindsight. Earlier application of either all the amendments
at the same time or only the amendments related to the
classification of financial assets is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

SAERIEET AR (47)

ERVBEREEANE19ERFAE
RERZEZRMABHIKERE R
DA EREME B BRELER S
HRZER  SFELEINRE - BT
RER RHBEPR BEMLALRE
B BHREENFI0ORFSHER
KATRECHBAR FEAEBA
XREM BH(EKNTE) 84
A RBREEBMBREER G
AREHEARER A HwRK -
RIFRFER - HRARR /LB
8 BANEEREZRAETEBYE
WEERE195 - ZRAETHE
AR EZEEBRERFEM B HREANER
ERMBEREERF 1958

EBUBREERNEIRLERMHE
BELEUE7SRZBIIALHM IR
DR BB FERK LR
THEENTREEZAH WA
—EGBURER AN RBERGE
BT ARIEEINEERRE
BETXNRARGECEHER &
FEIAMBUATEREBERE 4
ZRERREMEUIRFE R SR
BEEZANRESREBRH - I &
FEIAEFERHEREERER
BeemEERGNBHBT AN A
ME - ZFEITATBEHEERE
BEMEEBRZA T EFEZRE
TERBUAERRATHzE/M T
B2 FIMREE - ZFEITAREBHE
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A (SR stz HMMHEBER D ) 1FH A
B BEHEHBAREY BEAER
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FIZFEAMBER  NERFER
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FEIANEHEAREGE Y B®RK
EEFMERTE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 #Z2025F 38315 IHFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EEEUER (@)
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING 2.3 ERBEBREN2EEVHBE

STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Contracts
Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity clarify the
application of the “own-use” requirement for in-scope
contracts and amend the designation requirements for a
hedged item in a cash flow hedging relationship for in-
scope contracts. The amendments also include additional
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to
understand the effects those contracts have on an entity’s
financial performance and future cash flows. The
amendments relating to the own-use exception shall be
applied retrospectively. Prior periods are not required to
be restated and can only be restated without the use of
hindsight. The amendments relating to the hedge
accounting shall be applied prospectively to new hedging
relationships designated on or after the date of initial
application. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 shall be applied at
the same time. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a
gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when
the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business.
For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=& M ERRMIGE
31 March 2025 8 Z 20255383 1HILEE
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING

2. FEHBUR ()
2.3 CHEGENKRERZEEHER

STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall
assess whether a currency is exchangeable into another
currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at
a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking. The
amendments require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the impact of a
currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application is
permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity
cannot restate comparative information. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component of
equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 11 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7
(and the accompanying Guidance on implementing
HKFRS 7), HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the
Group are as follows:

e HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording in
paragraph B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs IG1, 1G14
and 1G20B of the Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7
for the purpose of simplification or achieving
consistency with other paragraphs in the standard
and/or with the concepts and terminology used in
other standards. In addition, the amendments clarify
that the Guidance implementing HKFRS 7 does not
necessarily illustrate all the requirements in the
referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor does it create
additional requirements. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

SAERIEET AR (47)

BB G ER B 2152 AT A
ERENAFEEEEERE ALK
RE—RBER  DNERZ AR}
ZIBERT  BRENAGEFNRER
HZENHER - ZFEITAZRKE
FEYBHRREMERN TREEARTY
RMZHEBZER - RFFREEM -
NERZEBIIAR  BRAEET
LB ER - MIERZEFBRIAZE
MRZTHEENIAERE BER R
HR BB G R AR S
BBERE D R REZ E R EERR

SECAR(MER) AWZFE
AATNEUARRGAMBRRELE
EAERTE -

BEBUYBEREER QA ERCFE
KE-F 11 EBINEBYBREE
A1 BEBMBREERNETR
(RBENBEREEYHEHREERET
BLZBIEIES ) TR HHREER
FOWE BBMBREENE105ER
BBETERNET R BT A TEH
BRANAEB BRI AT ¢

o B[EUBEREENRTSHRSHT
A EE ZEEIARENE
BRI ERAIE 7 5B B38 R
REBHEREERE T CE
JEIESIE1G1 ~1G14 F 1G20BER
ZETHEE DSl guzasaz
AERH A EL R [ Sk E A XE R FT
R LA Z — B - thah
ZEBIIANET  EEYBERE
ERIE T EHEIES|MA—TE
B E B EREENRTHE
SIHEEZFTERE  IAREM
FIMRIE - RFFIREER - A
ZEBIT AN SHAERGAH
BREREETMERTE-

Ulferts International Limited BX{LEIfSZERAR]

78 Annual Report 2024/2025 3k




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 #Z2025F 38315 IHFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments
clarify that when a lessee has determined that a lease
liability has been extinguished in accordance with
HKFRS 9, the lessee is required to apply paragraph
3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise any resulting gain or
loss in profit or loss. In addition, the amendments have
updated certain wording in paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS
9 and Appendix A of HKFRS 9 to remove potential
confusion. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements. The
amendments clarify that the relationship described in
paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just one example of
various relationships that might exist between the
investor and other parties acting as de facto agents of
the investor, which removes the inconsistency with the
requirement in paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments
replace the term “cost method” with “at cost” in
paragraph 37 of HKAS 7 following the prior deletion of
the definition of “cost method”. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have
any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets and financial assets), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value less
costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=& M ERRMIGE
31 March 2025 8 Z 20255383 1HILEE
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2. FEHBUR ()
2.4 EXEGEBUR (&)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to
an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 #Z2025F 38315 IHFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant

influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is

a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=& M ERRMIGE
31 March 2025 8 Z 20255383 1HILEE
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2. FEHBUR ()
2.4 EXEGEBUR (&)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the
Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms
Furniture, fixtures and equipment  20% - 33'/3%
Motor vehicles 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 #Z2025F 38315 IHFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the
amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is
calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease
payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease
incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised
by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=& M ERRMIGE
31 March 2025 8 Z 20255383 1HILEE
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (continued)

(c)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if
there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option). When the
Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value
asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of
its leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 #Z2025F 38315 IHFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EETEUR (#)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EXEEEUR (#)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessor (continued)

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract
contains lease and non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms and is included in revenue in profit or
loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as
rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue
in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee are accounted for as finance leases.

At the commencement date, the cost of the leased asset is
capitalised at the present value of the lease payments and
related payments (including the initial direct costs), and
presented as a receivable at an amount equal to the net
investment in the lease. The finance costs of such leases
are charged to profit or loss so as to provide a constant
periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is
classified as a finance lease or operating lease with
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which the
Group applies the on-balance sheet recognition
exemption, the Group classifies the sublease as an
operating lease.

Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=& M ERRMIGE
31 March 2025 8 Z 20255383 1HILEE
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2. FEHBUR ()
2.4 EXEGEBUR (&)

Financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”)
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business
models are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 #Z2025F 38315 IHFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EETEUR (#)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EXEEEUR (#)

Financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade
date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets at amortised
cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=& M ERRMIGE
31 March 2025 8 Z 20255383 1HILEE
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2. FEHBUR ()
2.4 EXEGEBUR (&)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for
credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For
those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a
loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over
the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 #Z2025F 38315 IHFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EETEUR (#)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EREETBUR (#)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information. The Group considers that there
has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset
to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is
written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of
ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 2 —  Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial
assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=& M ERRMIGE
31 March 2025 8 Z 20255383 1HILEE
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2. FEHBUR ()
2.4 EXEGEBUR (&)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in
credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and borrowings, or payables, as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities at amortised
cost (trade and other payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in profit or
loss.

EMEERE ()

L%
ATBIERBEIND 2 E 2 BB
EME NEARBEAGZ2EBRE
BREAHERRE D < FEFD
ARE AEEEFEREEEER
REeRAMLIE EBLIET
AEBUNEREERARES B
ZRENSREBHN 2 BABEE
EBIEEREERE AEEE#ML—
EfEEERE HEZEREBEEES
B TEREEAREREER
B AIRE R R AE AR -

EHERE
BRHERRETE

FEBERaEN B RAERSEE
A ERE R BRI IR

ESHEBERERERAREATE
SR MBERRERSEMRR
AR EEBERZ A -

REEGTELHERF S BZEHEE
(BEZRAEMEAHIR > LUIREL)

REREREK  BEZENFIALEM
BNZIE . St EERLERERUE
BRR RO IZ BT B > FRIFITIR
ZEEEW FERIBRT  BIREAE
Sk - RN S LSRN EER IR
REFBBEEMN K EHBRTRSE

5
2y
B

48 PR A AT ST 2 A T S
BT B B R R AR S 2 B
RAAR K - BIAKBHH AR
LR

Ulferts International Limited BX{LEIfSZERAR]

90 Annual Report 2024/2025 3k




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 #Z2025F 38315 IHFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EETEUR (#)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EXEEEUR (#)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or
the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified,
such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a
new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted
average basis. Net realisable value is based on estimated
selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred in
the process of disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement
of financial position comprise cash on hand and at banks,
and short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of
generally within three months that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value and held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined above,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=& M ERRMIGE
31 March 2025 8 Z 20255383 1HILEE
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2. FEHBUR ()
2.4 EXEGEBUR (&)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in profit or loss.

A provision for reinstatement costs is recognised when a
contractual obligation under the terms of an operating
lease has arisen to reinstate a leased property at the end
of the lease. Reinstatement costs are provided at the value
of the expected costs to settle the obligation at the end of
the reporting period using estimated cash flows and an
equivalent asset is recognised and depreciated over the
term of the operating lease. The estimated future costs of
reinstatement are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
least at each financial year end.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries/
jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& S ERaREE

31 March 2025 #Z2025F 38315 IHFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=& M ERRMIGE
31 March 2025 8 Z 20255383 1HILEE
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2. FEHBUR ()
2.4 EXEGEBUR (&)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of the reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set
off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 #Z2025F 38315 IHFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. ZETEGR (®)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EXEEEBUR ()
Revenue recognition (continued) W HEZT (1)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) BEFEEHIHA (18)

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

e  Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the
point in time when control of the asset is transferred
to the customer, generally upon delivery of the goods.

Other income

Other service income is recognised over time, using an
output method to measure the Group’s progress towards
complete satisfaction of the relevant services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=& M ERRMIGE
31 March 2025 8 Z 20255383 1HILEE
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2. FEHBUR ()
2.4 EXEGEBUR (&)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Other income (continued)

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a
customer before the Group transfers the related goods or
services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers
control of the related goods or services to the customer).

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates an occupational retirement scheme
registered under the Hong Kong Occupational Retirement
Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the scheme. This scheme has been granted
exemption under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance. When an employee leaves the scheme
before his/her interest in the Group’s employer contributions
vesting fully, the ongoing contributions payable by the
Group are reduced by the relevant amount of the forfeited
employer’s contributions.

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

Contributions to these schemes are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the schemes. The assets of
these schemes are held separately from those of the
Group in independently administered funds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 &2 2025F3831HILEE
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. FEHBUR ()

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in
the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or
loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date of the initial transactions.

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from
the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments
or receipts in advance, the Group determines the
transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 ERaRbEE

31 March 2025 &2 2025438310 IHFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of the reporting period.
Non-financial assets with finite useful lives are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the
carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds
its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less
costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the
fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data from
binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of
similar assets or observable market prices less incremental
costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations
are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows.

Provisions for reinstatement costs

The Group makes provisions for reinstatement costs associated
with certain leased properties under operating leases
attributable to the Group based on the estimates of the
expected costs to be incurred to settle the relevant contractual
obligations under the terms of the leases at the end of the
reporting period, which are subject to uncertainties and might
differ from the actual costs to be incurred. Significant
judgements and estimates are required, including, inter alia,
making various assumptions with reference to past experience
and available information to determine the expected costs to
be incurred. Further details are included in note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 #Z2025F 38315 IHFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Net realisable value of inventories

The Group periodically reviews the net realisable value of
inventories to determine whether any write-down of inventories
to net reliable value is required. In estimating the net realisable
value of inventories, the Group considers, inter alia, the nature,
ageing and condition of inventories, current market condition
and other relevant factors. Based on such assessment,
write-down of inventories will be made when the carrying
amount of inventories declines below their estimated net
realisable value. Due to changes in market and economic
environment and customers’ preference, actual saleability of
inventories and actual selling prices that could be realised
might be different from the original estimation and profit or loss
could be affected by differences in these estimations.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments that have similar
loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an
increased number of defaults, the historical default rates are
adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 ERaRbEE

31 March 2025 &2 2025438310 IHFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a
lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”)
to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the
Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a
similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar
value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have to pay”,
which requires estimation when no observable rates are available
(such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing
transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms
and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in the
subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR
using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when
available and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates
(such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group principally focuses on the retail and wholesale of imported
furniture, and special projects. Information reported to the Group’s
chief operating decision maker, for the purpose of resource allocation
and performance assessment, focuses on the operating results of the
Group as a whole as the Group’s resources are integrated and no
discrete operating segment information is available. Accordingly, no
operating segment information is presented.

Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers

Substantially all of the Group’s revenues from external
customers during the years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024 were attributed to Hong Kong based on the location
of the customers or the location of certain key processes/
resources from which the Group derived the revenues.

(b) Non-current assets

All of the Group’s non-current assets as at the end of the
reporting period were located in Hong Kong based on the
location of the assets.

Information about major customers

No revenues from transactions with a single external customer
for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 amounted to 10%
or more of the total revenue of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 & ZE 2025438315 IHFE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. A ~ EUWA R Yz
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WA -

2025 2024

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET

Revenue from contracts with customers £E&# A

Retail of furniture RMZE 145,075 155,146
Wholesale of furniture &2 6,428 10,179
Special projects — project sales TI2IBE — BB E 1,518 6,313
153,021 171,638
Revenue from contracts with customers EREHRA
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) HFHMAEFH

2025 2024

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET

Types of goods & R 35E!
Sale of furniture $5 &1 153,021 171,638

Timing of revenue recognition Y A f& 2R

At a point in time JAFE—RFEL 153,021 171,638
The following table shows the amounts of revenue TRERAREHEERCWASEE  H
recognised in the current reporting period that were HAREHYSNBENNBTAEBRT
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the BHEIEDR :

reporting period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:

2025 2024

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FTET

Revenue recognised that was included in contract
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:

RBEHFAGHNREZIEEIBBA -

Sale of goods $#HELEH 11,079 12,261
Sale of gift vouchers &34 13 192
11,092 12,453
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i & TR ERsRbTEE
31 March 2025 & Z 2025933315 IEFE
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(ii) Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of goods

The performance obligation is generally satisfied upon delivery
of goods. For retail sale of furniture, payment in advance and/or
upon delivery by customers is normally required. For wholesale
of furniture, payment is generally due within 30 to 60 days from
the date of billing. For project sales, payment is generally due
based on terms agreed by relevant parties as set out in the
respective agreements.

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

WA ~ HAUG A YTz (#8)
EESHBA (&)
(i) BHRIE(F

FRASBENETZER B
T

HESM
BFHEEEENERRMRER - &M
DEMS FRPBABARINHRRN
BER- sLEMBBMES  FR—BRNE
HEZHEI0E0HANZH - MIREHE

5 R —RIZEE SRR S &P
T ERIRFREIHS

EAWA RS AT T -
2025 2024

HK$’ 000
FET

HK$’ 000
FET

Other service income EBARFEWA 2,083 1,561
Bank interest income $R1TH) WA 716 1,701
Others EHAth 1,522 1,009

4,321 4271

6. FINANCE COSTS

Interest on lease liabilities FAE & &I &

RAFE AN

2025 2024
HK$’ 000
FET
2,717

HK$’ 000
FET
1,645
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 & ZE 2025438315 IHFE

7. LOSS BEFORE TAX 7. BRRBIEIR
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEBRBBIBESHNR (Bf) TH&
(crediting): g

2025 2024

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

TAET TAET

Cost of inventories sold EHEBRERA 67,198 71,232

Write-down/(reversal of write-down) of inventories to net (2,481) 747

realisable value

WoRL(BEMOE) FEEASRFE

Total amount recognised as cost of sales 64,717 71,979

Auditor’s remuneration 2l <& 700 728
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 12 1,867 2,435
W2~ BB N T

Depreciation of right-of-use assets {FREEE & 13(a) 24,783 31,500
Lease payments not included in the measurement 13(c) 10,027 3,771

of lease liabilities

Kt AHEREECHENR

Employee benefit expense (excluding directors’ and chief
executive’s remuneration (note 8)):

REBINAX (NBREFMESTTHRAEME (MEE8)):

Wages, salaries, bonuses and allowances 35,681 37,545
T&E- #d 1BALLOERL
Pension scheme contributions 1,674 1,849

(defined contribution schemes)*
RIS EHEIBER (ERRERETE))”

37,355 39,394
Impairment of property, plant and equipment” 12 1,715 442
M~ B MR BE "
Impairment of right-of-use assets" {# FAREE &2 BiE " 13(a) 14,367 4,775
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of trade receivables, net 15 (170) 63
B S EYGRERE, (BERE) 58
Foreign exchange differences, net [EX =R+ 5% (18) (161)
*  There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Y AREEN A REREELUREIRE MR
Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of K2 B BEFR
contributions.
* Included in “Other expenses” in the consolidated statement of o RTAGZAERREMEEKSEANTH
profit or loss and other comprehensive income. fthFAsZ 4o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 ERaRbEE

31 March 2025 & ZE 202533310 IEFE

8.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration of the Group for
the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c)
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of
the Hong Kong Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

EFRESTHAEME

RIRBRFTES EHHRR - BB ARG
£5383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ (c) M (NEUEEBA
B (WEEEMNEER ) BHIE 2 ATk E
REAXREBEERESTTHRAEMEM
‘F :

2025 2024

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

TET TET

Fees 13 1,145 1,140

Other emoluments: EfEH< :

Salaries and allowances 74} iERL 2,853 2,911

Pension scheme contributions (defined contribution schemes) 120 120
RN EH BB (ERRHERETE)

Subtotal /gt 2,973 3,031

Total #8% 4,118 4,171

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors
during the year were as follows:

(a) BIIEBITES

FR ENBLFAMTESRZRSA
T

2025 2024

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET

Chan Yee Man [E#E% 160 180
Chiu Kin Fai 33&1E 160 180
Ng Hoi Yue 87T 160 180
Total #8% 480 540

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2024 Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 & ZE 2025438315 IHFE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERmSITTHABME (&)
REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) Executive directors and the chief executive (b) MITEERESITHASE
Pension
scheme
Salaries and Discretionary contributions Total
Fees  allowances bonuses BIKE€ remuneration
g FERER BIETEAT BE- R [0 ke
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TET FTAET TET TET TET
2025
Executive director and the managing director:
WTESRERELE
Chan Chuen Yin REZ 133 1,484 - 60 1,677
Executive director and the general manager:
HTESRELRE:
Mok Fung Lin, lvy BB * 133 1,369 - 60 1,562
Executive directors: ${TE% :
Wong Chi Fai %18 133 - - - 133
Fan Man Seung, Vanessa S88% 133 - - - 133
Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander #5HEE" 133 - - - 133
Total #85 665 2,853 - 120 3,638
2024
Executive director and the managing director:
WTESREFELE
Chan Chuen Yin REE 150 1,542 - 60 1,752
Executive director and the general manager:
BTEERBLE
Mok Fung Lin, lvy E[EsE 150 1,369 - 60 1,579
Executive directors: #{TEE ¢
Wong Chi Fai 518 150 - - - 150
Fan Man Seung, Vanessa S58% 150 - - - 150
Total #% 600 2,911 - 120 3,631
" Appointed as the Chairman of the board of director of the " R2024F4B 1 HEZFAARN
Company ('Board") and executive director on 1 April AESE(TEFg ) TERAT
2024 B%-

*  Retired from the positions of executive director and * R2055F4B AR ATEER
member of the executive committee on 1 April 2025 HITEESHREZBIBRIA -
There was no arrangement under which a director or the FR EESEIRSITHAERE
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any FAZHEREXRERET AN -

remuneration during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& TS ER IR EE

31 March 2025 #Z2025F3831H ILFE
9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year
included two directors (2024: two directors), details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2024: three)
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

hEREHES

E AEBRLAREFEERERS
EH (20244 MAES) HMDHE
WA EHEES - HER=4 (20244 : =
B)WFAATEEXFRBTHRAEY
REHERENFRZHEFEEMT :

2025 2024

HK$’ 000
FET

HK$’ 000
FET

Salaries and allowances ¥4 fiE8L 2,425 2,526
Discretionary bonuses EJIS{EAL - -
Pension scheme contributions B &5t E4E 5k 81 83
Total #8% 2,506 2,609

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following
bands is as follows:

MEETIHBERNZFFEZRIFEHITR
ABZESHEEABAT -

Number of employees

EE AR

2025 2024

Nil to HK$1,000,000 & Z 1,000,000/ 7T 3 3
Total #&=t 3 3

During the year, no emolument was paid or payable by the
Group to the non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for the loss of office (2024: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 & ZE 2025438315 IHFE

10. INCOME TAX 10. Fh1S#
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the RN AEBNREZE2025F3H31HIEE
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong EWRELAFMREEBNERTSA
Kong during the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil). Rt 3 S AE A S R S R (2024 4F -
/) o

2025 2024

HKS$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET

Current — Hong Kong EHA — &%

Underprovision in prior years - 31
BEFERERAR
Deferred (note 20) EZE ( ffzE20) 4,836 346
Total tax charge for the year £ %18 5 X 4248 4,836 377
A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to loss before tax at BEBEERE (KRB RAEE KRB
the Hong Kong statutory tax rate (statutory tax rate for the KEMBARFTERDERER K & @
jurisdiction in which the Company and the majority of the BEERE) Gt ERARBRBEEZ
Group’s operating subsidiaries are domiciled and/or operate) to MERAXHEAEEERREAR 2BIE
the tax expenses at the Group’s effective tax rate is as follows: BARERAT :
2025 2024
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TET TFAET
Loss before tax BRELAIEE (36,182) (24,629)
Tax credit at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate of 16.5% (5,970) (4,064)
BEBEERE16.5%TEZHIBE R
Adjustment in respect of current tax of previous periods - 31
B AR EA B IR AR R
Income not subject to tax FEEZETZ WA (118) (283)
Expenses not deductible for tax AN A% 552 13 974
Tax losses not recognised KRIER 2 FiIEEE 5,078 5,234
Derecognition of temporary differences previously recognised 4,836 -
BITFERABCHERCE AR
Others Hfth 997 (1,515)
Tax charge at the Group’s effective tax rate 4,836 377

BAREERR R EZRIAS H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 ERaRbEE

31 March 2025 & ZE 2025438310 IHEE

11. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY 11. Eﬂtﬁ'%ﬁﬂﬁ*&é%ﬁkﬂg{ﬁg
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT B Esta
The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based on BREREBEDREBEFAZARLERE
the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of nEEABLEERFACRITEAK
the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary BN #E S 9 800,000,000 & (2024 4 -
shares of 800,000,000 (2024: 800,000,000) in issue during the 800,000,000 & ) 5+ -
year.
The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue REEPEZE 2025F £ 2024 FE3 A 31 H
during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024. EFETREBETESFERACERTEE
B o
The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share is based T B ETEESRER RSB S
on: 5
2025 2024
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET
Loss &8
Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent used in the (41,018) (25,006)

basic and diluted loss per share calculation

SAEEREALEEEEMASAR T BREREE ABIEER

Number of shares
R EE

2025 2024

Shares %%

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year 800,000,000 800,000,000
used in the basic and diluted loss per share calculation

STEEREALEEEEMACFAERITEERINEFIE
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108 Annual Report 2024/2025 3k




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 #Z 2025838315 (LFE
12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. Y% -~ RE K% E

Furniture,
fixtures and
Leasehold equipment Motor
improvements B RE vehicles Total

REMRERE R fid e wat

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TER TERL TERL TER

31 March 2025 20255 3B 31 H

At 31 March 2024 and at 1 April 2024:
2024 £3 531 HR2024 £4 B1 5

Cost kA 65,986 8,566 2,603 77,155
Accumulated depreciation Z5r#T& (65,325) (6,684) (2,094) (74,103)
Net carrying amount BRE$(E 661 1,882 509 3,052
At 1 April 2024, net of accumulated depreciation 661 1,882 509 3,052
R2024F 4B 18 HIRRHITE
Additions K& 838 - - 838
Depreciation provided during the year (917) (749) (201) (1,867)
FRIERE
Impairment Ji& (582) (1,133) - (1,715)
At 31 March 2025, net of accumulated depreciation - - 308 308

and impairment

202533310 MBREFHTENRE

At 31 March 2025: 2202543 H 318 :

Cost A 66,122 8,546 2,603 77,271
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (66,122) (8,546) (2,295) (76,963)
ZEMERRE

Net carrying amount RIEBE - - 308 308

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEFEBRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 ERaRbEE

31 March 2025 & ZF2025F3831HILFE
12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 12. % - BE R 5 (&)

Furniture,
fixtures and
Leasehold equipment Motor
improvements B RE vehicles Total

REMmRERE R fia at:d wat

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET TER TERL TER

31 March 2024 2024 535 31 H
At 1 April 2023: 1420234318 :

Cost giA 66,009 6,528 2,603 75,140
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (64,277) (5,682) (1,893) (71,852)
ZEHTERRE
Net carrying amount RS & 1,732 846 710 3,288
At 1 April 2023, net of accumulated depreciation 1,732 846 710 3,288
20235418 HKRETINE
Additions ‘K& 587 2,054 - 2,641
Depreciation provided during the year (1,543) (691) (201) (2,435)
FRTERR
Impairment J8i{& (115) (327) - (442)
At 31 March 2024, net of accumulated depreciation 661 1,882 509 3,052

and impairment

20248 38 31 B MRRFHTERAE

At 31 March 2024: 12202453 H 310 :

Cost FA 65,986 8,566 2,603 77,155

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (65,325) (6,684) (2,094) (74,103)

ZEMERRE

Net carrying amount RENF(E 661 1,882 509 3,052
During the year ended 31 March 2025, due to the unfavourable B E2025F3831HEEE AR
operating performance of the Group, the Group recognised AEBCREXRFARE AEES2EH
impairment losses for the year of HK$1,715,000 (2024: HET KB SBEDRNEREERESEE
HK$442,000) and HK$14,367,000 (2024: HK$4,775,000) with 1,715,000 JT (2024 4F * 442,000 7T )
reference to their estimated recoverable amounts to write down K 14,367,000 T (2024 4F © 4,775,000
the carrying amounts of these items of property, plant and HBIT)  DIMOBZEWZE -~ BB AERIEIRE
equipment and right-of-use assets, respectively. The estimates of LEAREECREE AIKESE G
the recoverable amount were based on the value-in-use and the SR BEEREESELULATER TR
discount rate applied is 15.2% (2024: 25.7%). Ky 15.2% (20244 1 25.7% ) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

T & IS ERaRMIEE
31 March 2025 & ZF2025F 383 1HILFE
13. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for certain of its office
properties, retail stores, warehouses and equipment used in its
operations. Leases of properties and equipment generally have
lease terms of 18 months to 5 years.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amount of the Group’s right-of-use assets
and the movements during the year are as follows:

13. fi&
AEEEBEEA

AEBBEBRANESECETHRANE
FEE - RELRE - MELRIBZEBR
BEAT/\BRERE-

(a) EHEEZE

FATKEEERREECRMERE
BT ¢

Properties

and equipment

YER

HK$’ 000

THET

At 1 April 2023 72 2023F 481 H 49,794
Additions /R"& 14,164
Lease modification fHEE:] (223)
Depreciation charge &% H (31,500)
Impairment JE{&E (4,775)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 }22024 %38 31 BN 2024F 48 1 H 27,460
Additions /NE 11,690
Depreciation charge #E&x 1 (24,783)
Impairment JE{E (14,367)

At 31 March 2025 72 20254&3H 31 H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 ERaRbEE

31 March 2025 & ZE 202533310 IEFE

13. LEASES (continued) 13. #HE (#)
The Group as a lessee (continued) KXEBERAMA (/)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEERE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements FREESBECRABLESHHTIA
during the year are as follows: ™
2025 2024
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TET TET
Carrying amount at 1 April K48 1B ZREE 39,189 66,892
New leases & 11,661 13,941
Lease modification FHEE5] - (223)
Accretion of interest recognised during the year 1,645 2,717
FRRER ) BIG I
Payments {J3k (34,029) (44,138)
Carrying amount at 31 March 7 3 8 31 Bz REE 18,466 39,189

Analysed into: 274 :

Current portion &) 16,595 28,300
Non-current portion FE7ENEE5 1,871 10,889

2025 2024

HKS$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TET FET

Lease liabilities repayable: JEE BB EA(E :

Within one year —F R 16,595 28,300

In the second year 84 1,561 10,549

In the third to fifth years E=FZ % HFE 310 340

Carrying amount at 31 March /*3 8 31 HZREE 18,466 39,189
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in HEAGE I BTN E M HR
note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. KM EE 28 I EE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 & ZE 2025438315 IHFE

13. LEASES (continued) 13. fHE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEEELSEEA (&)
(¢) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c) NEFERZHEEBESEHRIIM
leases are as follows: T

2025 2024

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

FET FET

Interest on lease liabilities FHE&EF 2 1,645 2,717
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {F & EITES H 24,783 31,500
Expense relating to short-term leases (included in selling and 9,927 3,742

distribution expenses)

BRRIEERS (FTAHE LD HEHFAN)

Variable lease payments not included in the measurement of lease 100 29
liabilities (included in selling and distribution expenses)
At AGHEREEBECAISBEERIE (FTAHERDHERAX)

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 36,455 37,988
RIB R 2 #8258

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 23(c) (d) HERSMHBRENRE M BHREN
to the consolidated financial statements. & 23(c)# EE -

(e) Extension options (e) EFHEEE
The Group has several lease contracts that include AEFHBELETEBYEHEEENA
extension options. These options are negotiated by E5K - 2TREEMEEEERLL
management to provide flexibility in managing the ERERHEEEHASWHEAEEN
leased-asset portfolio and they are aligned with the EBBRE/F - TXEHIEEREE
Group’s business needs. Set out below are the AT HAE B EMEBENARAIRE
undiscounted potential future rental payments relating to ERKEESNH(RBEEEEERRK
periods following the exercise date of extension options APE

that are not included in the lease terms:

Payable Payable
within after
five years five years Total

hFERXM hF®/L T #asEt

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET TET

31 March 2025 202553 A 31H

Extension options expected not to be exercised 1,128 - 1,128
TAHAARE T B R R

Ulferts International Limited BX{LEIFEBRA R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 ERaRbEE

31 March 2025 & ZE 202533310 IEFE

13. LEASES (continued) 13. fHE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBESEHEA (&)
(e) Extension options (continued) (e) ERIEIENE (#8)

Payable Payable
within after
five years five years Total

hFERZA hERZM HEt

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET FET

31 March 2024 202453 H31H

Extension options expected not to be exercised 4,998 - 4,998

TEMARET R B RERE

The Group as a lessor AEREAEEA
The Group subleases a carpark under a finance lease AREEREREHELTHDHEEELS &
arrangement, with the lease negotiated for a term of one year. EMREAE—F -
As at 31 March 2025, the undiscounted lease payments R2025F3H31TH AEFHHEEMRF A
receivable by the Group in future periods under a non-cancellable AEERERE NP R EAB FEWARELIR
finance lease with its tenant is as follows: AT -
2025 2024
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TFET TFET
Within one year —4 R 678 660
14. INVENTORIES 14. 8

2025 2024

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FH&T F#&xT
Goods held for sale HELE S 30,230 41,127

Ulferts International Limited BX{LEIfSZERAR]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 & ZE 2025438315 IHFE

15. TRADE RECEIVABLES 15. E S EIFRIE

2025 2024

HK$’ 000
FET

HK$’ 000
FExT

Trade receivables & ZEWFIE 2,425 4,238
Impairment JE{&E (167) (337)
2,258 3,901

The Group’s retail sales are usually paid in cash or by major
credit/debit cards, with the settlement from the corresponding
banks or other financial institutions normally within 7 to 30
days. The Group’s trading terms with its wholesale and project
customers are mainly on credit, except for new customers,
where payment in advance and/or upon delivery is normally
required. The credit period for these customers is generally
one to two months, extending up to six months for major
project customers, or based on terms agreed by the relevant
parties as set out in the respective agreements. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables
and overdue balances are reviewed by senior management.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables of the Group as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and
net of loss allowance, is as follows:

REEZZEHERE RS AN
TEEAF /RN ARBT
HEMESHREEBEETN7E0HAE
B AEEEEMBREFPRAEEFZE
EREEZRUGEERTNER  ENEF
—RBERTEARANL RRENKTS
NEE - REEPEEYN—RA—EW
BR > AREENEEEZEFRZEREN
B RN BE L RES HEMEBE B
R REENDREEZEFERBE B
R THABREEEERBMER - &
SETERES ZERFIRGHTH EM
IR mEAME IR R - B 2 BN
BRAETE -

R|EMR - AEEE 5 BUGIE (R
EBiEEE) REZRMZRRITAOT -

2025 2024

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

TFET TFET

Within 1 month —@ A8 A 1,741 3,123
1 to 3 months —ZE=1EA 451 563
Over 3 months =@ B E 66 215
2,258 3,901
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M5 ERaRbEE

31 March 2025 & ZE 202533310 IEFE

15. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

15. B S EUNERIE (#8)

I

B2 ERFIRRESER B EBH T

2025 2024

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

TFET TFET

At beginning of year &% 337 274

Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment losses), net (note 7) (170) 63
BERECREEERE) PR (MW7)

At end of year K 167 337

RE®RE BB RBBRERETRES
i LEtERREEERE - BEXDER
AL EFEP ADEETOATMARN B G
B ZFTERMRR®ERBABSNERE
EEM TR RARREEM T (218
BINEHR -

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer segments. The calculation reflects
information that is available at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions, as appropriate.

TXHIEABEEESEAREEZE
WHRIREENEERRHER

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

Past due
peop:Li

Less than 1to3 Over
Current 1 month months 3 months Total
B 2M—EAB —FE=@EA Z=EBBUL HE

31 March 2025 20253 H31H

Expected credit loss rate TAEEEEIEX 1.73% 10.94% 21.88% - 6.89%
Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) 1,561 448 416 - 2,425
ABREE (TBT)

Expected credit losses (HK$’ 000) 27 49 91 - 167
TAEEEEE (T5T)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 & ZE 2025438315 IHFE
15. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 15. B S EWRIE (#8)

Past due
peop:

Less than 1to3 Over
Current 1 month months 3 months Total
ENEl 4W—EA —EF=E=EA =EBAMNUEL s

31 March 2024 202453 H31H

Expected credit loss rate THE EfEX 0.19% 10.74% 22.88% 33.23% 7.95%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) 2,646 540 730 322 4,238
REREE (T8T)
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) 5 58 167 107 337
TAEEEEE (T5T)
16. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 16. FAFTFIE « e R HMEKFIE
RECEIVABLES
2025 2024
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TAET TFAET
Prepayments F8{J3r18 3,040 1,877
Deposits and other receivables* &4 & E it fEI RIS * 15,616 19,572
18,656 21,449
Less: Non-current portion 38 : JEENEES (1,676) (4,125)
Current portion JiE)E 0 16,980 17,324
* Included in the Group’s deposits and other receivables were * N2025F3831H EWE TEE
amounts due from certain members of the Emperor Group of EE B 8 /A 7 718 £2,059,000 7T
approximately HK$2,059,000 as at 31 March 2025 (2024: (20244 : 2,025,000 7T ) st AREE
HK$2,025,000) which are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and RS LEMEKGIE BEKE . 28
repayable on demand. PR ERIEIE -
None of the financial assets included in the above balances 720254 K 20244 3 B 31 HEt A Lali4s
was either past due or impaired as at 31 March 2025 and BAZESREEMmEE JRERE - 5T A
2024. The financial assets included in the above balances it S E EMITHAN BN IER
related to deposits and other receivables for which there was O NAHFIENLS KN EHMEKGIES
no recent history of default and past due amounts. Their o HAalo I RBZEBEANEER
recoverability was assessed with reference to the credit status JLERAh KRR 2025F K 202443 A 31 H
of the debtors, and the expected credit loss as at 31 March HNiEE =EEGEREIEB R AR/ -

2025 and 2024 was considered by management to be minimal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 ERaRbEE

31 March 2025 & ZE 202533310 IEFE

17. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 17. ESEMRIEREMER
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the NRFERR BZENATEARENEERZR
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as BEHEBZRBEATAOT ¢
follows:

2025 2024
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
T#T T#T
Within 1 month —{@ 8 A 955 1,863
1 to 3 months —Z=1&H 31 247
Over 3 months =ER U E 26 175
1,012 2,285
The trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and are BORNFERENRBER AT ERE—K
normally settled on terms of 60 to 120 days. JARR60HE 120 HAAS °
The Group’s trade and bills payables include amounts AEEEZENRERENZEBREMUT
denominated in the following foreign currencies: FISMNESTHEZ FIE -
2025 2024
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
T#T T#T
United States dollar (“US$”) 27T (T 25T ) 51 167
Euro (“EUR”) BT (" BRIT 1) 562 1,219
613 1,386
18. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 18. HitFE(TFIE R FEETE B
2025 2024
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
BffEE T#T T#T
Other payables and accruals EfthfE(FrIE MK FEETE F (a) 11,388 10,398
Contract liabilities 88 & & (b) 14,075 17,252
25,463 27,650
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 & ZF2025F3831HHFE
18. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued)

Notes:

18. HibFE(TFIERFESTE R ()
S

R2025F3A3THENREEBKE

(a) Included in the Group’s other payables and accruals was an (a)

amount due to a member of the Emperor Group of
approximately HK$2,628,000 as at 31 March 2025 (2024:
HK$2,042,000), which is unsecured, non-interest-bearing and

NTERIE 492,628,000 7T (2024 4F -
2,042,000 7T ) sEAREEEAMENL TR
EREGFER - 2SR EAEKRF &

BRAZERERE - BREAEI > HA
FENFIEARE  FHHRA—ER -

repayable on demand. Except for the above, other payables

are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of one

month.
(b) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (b) BHNEaEZHBEIAT :
31 March

2025
2025 £

31 March
2024
2024 &
331 H

HK$’ 000
TFET

1 April
2023
2023 F
481H

HK$’ 000
TFExT

3831 H

HK$’ 000
FET

Consideration received from customers in advance

BlEFRE

Sale of goods $HEE @ 13,873 17,078 12,816
Sale of gift vouchers 12534 & 202 174 398
Total contract liabilities B4 B (E#%E 14,075 17,252 13,214

Contract liabilities include consideration received in advance
of the delivery of goods and for the sale of gift vouchers. The
decrease in contract liabilities as at 31 March 2025 was
mainly due to the decrease in short-term advances received
from customers in relation to the sales of goods at the end of
the year. The increase in contract liabilities as at 31 March
2024 was mainly due to the increase in short-term advances
received from customers in relation to the sales of goods at
the end of the year.

EHNEEBFIRIIRIE RN E
RS EES . R20254F3A831HAY
EBERONDFEANFREEREED
W FEHRBIRAD TR - 1220244
SATHEHNEER MDD EEHNSF
RELPD S E B MR P m B EIL AT
gzo

19. PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the terms of the relevant tenancy agreements, the
Group, as the lessee of certain properties under operating
leases, has the obligations to reinstate its leased properties to
their original state or to a condition as specified in the
respective tenancy agreements at the cost of the Group at the
end/upon the termination of the relevant lease terms.

19. i

REBBEEBEGRT . FEEEARE
HERMNETYERZABAREBREE!
BR/RIER BEEBEEERYEES
BRHERBHEBZAREZMR &
ABAREAE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M5 ERaRbEE

31 March 2025 & ZE 202533310 IEFE
19. PROVISIONS (continued)

Provisions for reinstatement costs

19. B (&)
1218 kA 123

2025 2024

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

TET TAET

At beginning of year &4 10,258 10,262
Additional provisions Z84ME#E 198 96
Amounts utilised during the year FRNE B F S48 (1,460) (85)
Decrease in estimated provisions &zt 54> = (15)
At end of year 3K 8,996 10,258
Less: Non-current portion J& : FERENES 2 (1,024) (4,595)
Current portion JRENEL5 7,972 5,663

The provisions for reinstatement costs were determined based
on certain assumptions and estimates made by the directors of
the Company with reference to past experience and available
information. The assumptions and estimates are reviewed, and
revised where appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

20. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are as
follows:

BERAEEDREAADNEEZSEBE
RBLEAAERMEE 2 BRR R AMEME
E - ZEBRMAFTEONEEYBREE
Kigay &R (@B ) -

20. EEMIAEE
EERBEENENZBBMT :

Depreciation in

excess of

related

depreciation

allowance

BABMME

BisZihE

HK$’ 000

T#T

At 1 April 2023 22023448 1H 5,182

Deferred tax charged to profit or loss during the year 10 (346)
FRARBHRINBRZIELER IR

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 7220243 831 B & 2024%F 481 H 4,836

Deferred tax charged to profit or loss during the year 10 (4,836)

FARBRIRIELERIR

At 31 March 2025 72 202543 A 31 H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 & ZE 2025438315 IHFE

20.

21,

22.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (continued)

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had tax losses arising in Hong
Kong of HK$69,782,000 (2024: HK$39,203,000) that may be
carried forward indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the company in which the losses arose. Deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of the tax losses
as they have arisen in a subsidiary that it is currently not
considered probable that taxable profits will be available
against which the tax losses can be utilised.

SHARE CAPITAL

Shares

Issued and fully paid shares: E 1T M BREH KRN ¢

20.

21,

EERIBEE ()

20254 3H31H AEENREBESL
2 1 T8 E5 $869,782,000 3 7T (2024 4F -
39,203,000 7T ) AJERHAAE s DUIKE &=

EYEAGEBEREDELREEE R
RAazEBEREEN —BEMNRATKA

Bz HBAT -
[EZN
40

2025 2024

HK$’ 000
FET

HK$’ 000
FET

800,000,000 (2024: 800,000,000) ordinary shares 110,337 110,337
800,000,000 (2024 £ : 800,000,000 ) & 48 Mg
SHARE OPTION SCHEME 22, BERGHEETE

The Company adopted a share option scheme (“Share Option
Scheme”) on 8 January 2018.

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are summarised
as follows:

(a) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

To enable the Group to attract, retain and motivate talented
eligible participants to strive for future developments and
expansion of the Group.
(b) Eligibility
Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include
any director, including any executive or independent
non-executive director, any employee of any member of the
Group, any trustee of a trust whose beneficiaries or objects
include any employee or business associate of the Group,
any adviser or consultant to the Group, any provider of
goods and / or services to the Group, or any other person
who the Board considers, in its sole discretion, has
contributed or may contribute to the Group.

ANFFR 201841 A 8 HER#—IE BB 1
T (TRER TR ) -

BT 8 TR EFMALT ¢

(a) BRIEFTEIZER

REREERERS  RELBBBEL
B2 AERSEELEREAER R
KERLIBR -

BERAL

BEREMECAERSEERELRSE
HEEMREARCENES (BEE
MRITHBIUFRITES) - EFE
B RBAXXBHRBELFEREE
MRENFEFBBEANGENEME
A AEREEAEMIEAA K
SEEMERL S HREHEREHK
EFSRRENBEIRHALREEBERM
KA RS FHEREMEMAL

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 ERaRbEE

31 March 2025 &2 2025438310 IHFE
22. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

Total number of shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme

Total number of shares available for issue: 80,000,000
shares, representing 10% of the total number of issued
shares as at the date of this annual report.

Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant under the
Share Option Scheme

(i) in aggregate not to exceed 1% of the total number of
the shares in issue in any 12-month period unless
approved by the shareholders; and

(i) options granted to substantial shareholders or

independent non-executive directors or their respective

associates in any 12-month period exceeding 0.1% of
the shares in issue and with a value in excess of

HK$5,000,000 must be approved by the shareholders.

Period within which options may be exercised by the
grantee under the Share Option Scheme

At any time from the date of grant of the option to such a
date determined by the Board but in any event not
exceeding 10 years from the date of grant.

Vesting period for options granted under the Share Option
Scheme

No vesting period unless otherwise determined by the
Board.

(i)  Amount payable on application or acceptance of the
option: HK$1.00;

(i) The period within which payments or calls must or

may be made: Within 28 days from the date of grant;

and

(iii) Period within which loans for such purposes of the

payments or calls must be repaid: Not applicable.

Ulferts International Limited BX{LEIfSZERAR]
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22, BERGHEETEI (8)

(c)

(d)

(e)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& S ERaREE

31 March 2025 #Z2025F 38315 IHFE
22. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(h) Basis for determining the exercise price

The exercise price is determined by the Board and will not
be less than the higher of (a) the closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheet on
the date of grant; and (b) the average Stock Exchange
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotation sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant.

(i) The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

Approximately 2.5 years (expiring on 7 January 2028)

No share option has been granted under the Share Option
Scheme since the adoption date of the Share Option Scheme.

23. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2025, additional
provisions for reinstatement costs in respect of certain
leased properties of the Group amounting to
approximately HK$198,000 (2024: HK$96,000) were
recognised and these amounts were recognised as
part of the cost of related property, plant and
equipment of the Group and reflected as additions to
leasehold improvements of the Group during the year.

(ii) During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$11,661,000
(2024: HK$13,941,000) and HK$11,661,000 (2024:
HK$13,941,000), respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for leased properties.

22, BERSIEETEl (@)
(h) BETlEEZESE

TEEDHEFEET  EASER
TH®EE (R RHEBABMEHR
BEXPTRER EATR AR R 2 4L
HE: RO)REEKH BB AE
EXHMBRATERRERLAIRA
DB 2 I B T B

(i) BBRREETBIER T EH
K25 (R2028FE1B7HEM)

BERETIEEB AL BEBKE
RIBBR TR ERE -

23. IRRIMERERMEE

(a) EEFRERSB

(i) B ZE2025F3H31HILEFE-
RAEBETHEAYERIEL
ZEERAEBEINEEN
198,000 7T (2024 4F : 96,000
BIL) BERERAANER
HEWE- BMELEERAZ—
o WHRFEREF AEAEEZ
THEMEEERE -

(i) RNER AEERERYECHE
EREARNEEFERAREENLE
BaECIERERE11,661,000
HIT (20244F © 13,941,000%
JT) K11,661,000%7T (2024
£ 1 13,941,000587T ) °

Ulferts International Limited EX{tBIFZ G RA T

Annual Report 2024/2025 4R

123



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 ERaRbEE

31 March 2025 & ZE 202533310 IEFE

23. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 23. iZSIR&Rn=RMEE (&)
FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liahilities arising from financing activities (b) MEEHEEZEBEZEEF

Lease
liabilities
HEEE

HK$’ 000
TET

31 March 2025 20253 A 31 H

At 1 April 2024 7R 2024F 481 H 39,189
Changes from financing cash flows BER &R E > & (34,029)
New leases FTfHE 11,661
Interest expense X 5% 1,645
At 31 March 2025 2202543 H 31 H 18,466

Lease
liabilities
HEaE

HK$’ 000
FET

31 March 2024 20243 H31H

At 1 April 2023 }22023F 48 1H 66,892
Changes from financing cash flows RIE R &M E B E) (44,138)

New leases & 13,941
Lease modification A& &3] (223)
Interest expense | S B2 2,717
At 31 March 2024 74202443 831 H 39,189

(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HEZRE&R LR
The total cash outflow for leases included in the SFAGERENERIHEECZCERE SN
consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows: HaazEE v T ¢

2025 2024

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

FET FET

Within operating activities &&5E8) A 10,027 3,771

Within financing activities @& EEIN 34,029 44,138

44,056 47,909
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 #Z 2025838315 (LFE
24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

In addition to the transactions, arrangements and balances
detailed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions with
certain directors of the Company and members of the
Emperor Group during the year:

Sales of goods FmHE

Interest expense on lease liabilities FHE& &2 A B X

Lease payments & I3k

Reimbursement of administrative expenses

TR B

Financial advisory fees 81 7RI E
Company secretarial fees AR WEE
Rental expenses H$BX

24. BB S R 5
(a) BREHFEUBRREMITHHL

P RYPEREHRI NREBRE
NEETAAREENKLEEEARE
NRBLUTRS :

2025 2024
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET
654 3,221

216 288
2,108 4,511
2,494 2,546
390 383

278 278
4,278 2,592

The underlying related party transactions as set out in
notes (i), (ii) and (vi) below mainly constitute continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Notes:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

The sales of goods were on terms agreed by the relevant
parties as set out in the respective agreements.

During the year, the Group had certain lease arrangements
ranging from two to three years with certain members of
the Emperor Group in connection with the leasing of
certain office properties and retail stores. The right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities as at 31 March 2025 were
HK$1,796,000 (2024: HK$4,128,000) and HK$2,337,000
(2024: HK$4,228,000), respectively.

The reimbursement of administrative expenses was
charged with reference to the costs incurred by the
relevant party.

The financial advisory fees were charged based on terms
as set out in the respective agreement.

The company secretarial fees were charged based on
terms as set out in the respective agreement.

The rental expenses were charged based on terms as set
out in the lease agreement.

TXXFEE(N) ~ (i) F (vi)ER 2 #E BT RE
BARHERBHRLEHRAE 14AE
FTAEFBRAER S -

it

(i)

(if)

(iif)

(iv)

i E D EN HERE T IZRE R
EFTEIG EZ R T

NAEE NEBRBEESE T
NEPERBEEFEEETER
EERENRVAEME=F
ZETHEZH R2025F3A
31H EREEERTHEAED
Bl £51,796,0005 JT (20244 :
4,128,000 %7t ) &% 2,337,000 /57T
(20244 : 4,228,000 7T ) ©

W AT R T2 E RN E
EZRAER
PTG T B RE R B IR E IR %15
B RN ©

NRWEBDHRESWEAME G
FRUER

BEAXREEE BRATEZ &
FRUCER ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 ERaRbEE

31 March 2025 & ZE 202533310 IEFE

24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 24. R AR5 (8)

(b) The amount due from the immediate holding company (b) FTARABMBIE E 2 EWE BT
included in the Company’s current assets is unsecured, NAZTIBREER s AR LARE
interest-free and repayable on demand. SREIE o

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: (c) AEBEFEEEAEHM

2025 2024

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

TAET TAET

Fees 1 1,145 1,140
Short-term employee benefits 55 {& 24&F| 5,278 5,437
Post-employment benefits BEfE 7 201 203
5,479 5,640

Total compensation paid to key management personnel 6,624 6,780

FFPEEEBEASZHMEER

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s EFERESTBRASMESCEMFSE
emoluments are included in note 8 to the consolidated BN BB RRMIEES ©
financial statements.
25. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 25. S REE
As at 31 March 2025, contingent liabilities not provided for by MR2025F3A31H AEBILRKNEFE
the Group in the consolidated financial statements were as MEREREHBHECAEENT
follows:

2025 2024

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET

In connection with bank guarantees given to a landlord in lieu of 2,187 2,187
a rental deposit required under certain tenancy agreements

AR —RXEFEHRTER UIREETHERRRECESES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 & ZE 2025438315 IHFE

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 26. IZEREI D 2EMTE
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial FEMNERTERRSHRZEKREEN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: I
Financial assets THMEE

Financial assets
at amortised cost

R ATI B ZERMEE

2025 2024

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

TET TET

Trade receivables & S EW IS 2,258 3,901

Financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables 15,616 19,572
STATBNRIE e REMEBKRIENSREE

Cash and cash equivalents IR& LIRS ZEY) 27,268 43,358

45,142 66,831

Financial liabilities cHMEE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

REHA AT EZEMBRE

2025 2024
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TFHET TFHET
Trade and bills payables B 2SI N EA ZiK 1,012 2,285
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 9,631 8,404
SFARMENREREAERANSREE
Lease liabilities A& &1& 18,466 39,189
29,109 49,878
27. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 27. EMTAZAFER LA TFEFR
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of the RHREPRR FEECESREERSHE
Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities reasonably BEREESEMEE AT ERE -

approximated to their fair values.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are TRMEEMBBECATERTIENBREYE
included at the amount at which the instrument could be FBeBRR S (GRESA S & HER
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, N TR RBAR LT AERR
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following HITANEETATE ¢

methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair

values:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 ERaRbEE

31 March 2025 &2 2025438310 IHFE

27.

28.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, trade and bills payables, and financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities/
repayable on demand clause of these instruments or because
the effect of discounting is not material.

The fair values of the non-current portion of financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables had
been calculated and assessed mainly by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available for
instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities, as appropriate. The changes in fair value as a result
of the Group’s own non-performance risk as at 31 March 2025
and 2024 were assessed to be insignificant.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and
cash equivalents. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, trade and bills payables and
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals,
and other financial liabilities, which mainly arise directly from
its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures primarily arise from purchases by the Group’s
operating units and certain monetary liabilities of the Group
denominated in EUR and US$, being currencies other than the
units’ functional currency. For the year ended 31 March 2025,
certain purchases of the Group were denominated in EUR, which
is different from the functional currencies of the respective
operating units. The directors of the Company do not expect any
significant movements in the US$/HK$ exchange rate as the
HK$ is pegged to the US$ within a narrow band.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 & ZE 2025438315 IHFE

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 28. HREEEIEBIZEREBUR (@)

POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
EUR exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of
the Group’s loss before tax (due to changes in the fair value of
monetary assets and liabilities).

31 March 2025 202553 H31H

SMERBE (7 )

TRETRBERREMBEMEERST
RBZERT  ARBESRHAIEEHET
EXAREHRCAERS (AEBREER
BEZATEES) 2BRHE-

Increase/
(decrease)
in loss

Increase/
(decrease) in
EUR exchange

rate before tax

BT R
s, (R )

FRIAIE A
()

HK$’ 000
% FET

If HK$ weakens against EUR {45 7T 5. B T B (8 5 28
If HK$ strengthens against EUR 37T S BT HHE (5) (28)

31 March 2024 2024F3H 31 H
If HK$ weakens against EUR s 7T 5 BT B2 (B
If HK$ strengthens against EUR {##& 7T R EBITHHE

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease)
EUR exchange in loss

rate before tax

BRI BB FY
#m,CEd)

HK$’ 000
FET

EXTTEESR
o (R )

5 61
() (61)

The directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
exposure on foreign currency risk as at 31 March 2025 and
2024 was not significant.

Credit risk

The Group trades on credit terms primarily with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s general policy that
customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to
credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure
to bad debts is not significant.

ANBEERR AEBERN20025F K
20244 3 B 31 B2 /MNE R BRI AE K -

EERAR

AEEELRERTHEERIFCE=NE
TEEEE - AREZEERR FTERER
ETEEEECEFHABBEERER
FFe ltoh BUEIRERDRFECER
HETER MAKBERYRRARAR

o

>l_
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 ERaRbEE

31 March 2025 & ZE 202533310 IEFE

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 28. HREEEIEBIZERBUR (7)
POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued) EE R (#)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging R KB fE R TF AR P E

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum T&REFINIA 31 BIRBEAREBEEEBUER
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, NEEBREMASZNEREERR (K
which is mainly based on past due information unless other FEFENEANERANE DM ERSE
information is available without undue cost or effort, and thER SAFEERCBHEN) RF
year-end staging classification as at 31 March. The amounts REEER DB T2 SR ATHEENE
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets. BRIEME -

12-month
ECLs
12188
THHAEE Lifetime ECLs
2=} SHFEHEERSR

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E—REE EREE E=REE EesE #Er

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET FET FET FET

31 March 2025 202553 H31H

Trade receivables* & 5 fEW R I1E * = =

2,425 2,425

Financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables

STATANRRIE « e REMBKGIER
TREE

- Normal** —IE® ** 15,616 - - - 15,616

Cash and cash equivalents

HWERREEEY
— Not yet past due — 5K Hf 27,268 - - - 27,268

42,884 = 2,425 45,309
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 #Z2025F 38315 IHFE

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 28. HREEEIEBIZEREBUR (@)
POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued) EERbE (&)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) BB FER FREER (18)

12-month
ECLs
12{@H
TRHIEE Lifetime ECLs
| ZEi] 2 HTRHIE B 1R

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E—PEE  ETHEE 0 E=REER @EAE st
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
T#T T#T TF#T T#x T#T

31 March 2024 202438 31H
Trade receivables* & 5 EIFIE - - - 4,238 4,238

Financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables
STATANRIE « Re REMBKGIER

TREE
- Normal** —1E& ** 19,572 - - - 19,572
Cash and cash equivalents
ReELREEEY
- Not yet past due — HAREH 43,358 - - - 43,358
62,930 - - 4,238 67,168
*  For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified * AEERE SEKEIEERBCRES
approach for impairment, further detailed information is % E— T H BN E M IEEREKRME 15
disclosed in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements. HEE o
**  The credit quality of the financial assets included in o FFATENRIE S e REMEKGIEN
prepayments, deposits and other receivables is considered to SREENFEEEERABFEER
be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no TEE o WAMBENETSREESR
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant BOERLREERKERZILM -
increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Liquidity risk MENE & B
The Group’s objective is to maintain adequate funds to meet AREEERARFZECES LM EHES
commitments associated with its financial liabilities. Cash flows HEEEBECRE NEESHTIEEE
of the Group are closely monitored by senior management on EAEECHEEHSREECIEER
an on-going basis, considering the maturity of the Group’s Raxm s IHIRSNRE  REERKE
financial liabilities and financial assets, and projected cash HEDNE IR SR E o

flows from operations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M5 ERaRbEE

31 March 2025 & ZE 202533310 IEFE

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

On demand
BEX

HK$’ 000
FET

31 March 2025 202553 H31H

28. I ASEIEBIZRBUR (&)

MENE SR ()
FEERBREMRCSHEBENREITN

RITBENA R EHIBE RN -

Less than
1 year
PR—E

HK$’ 000
FET

1 to 5 years
—ERF

HK$’ 000
FET

Total
HEEh

HK$’ 000
FET

Trade and bills payables 2 ZENFIAK - 1,012 - 1,012
FEN R
Financial liabilities included in other 2,628 7,003 - 9,631
payables and accruals
FFAEMENFIELES BN/ AE
Lease liabilities fHE& & - 17,122 1,915 19,037
2,628 25,137 1,915 29,680

On demand

REXK

HK$’ 000
FET

31 March 2024 202438 31H

Less than
1 year

PR—EE

HK$’ 000
FEXT

1 to 5 years
—ERF

HK$’ 000
FET

Total
st

HK$’ 000
FET

Trade and bills payables & 5 ERFRIE LK - 2,285 - 2,285
e R
Financial liabilities included in other 2,042 6,362 - 8,404
payables and accruals
STAERMENRELESERNSHERE
Lease liabilities fHE & & - 29,564 11,182 40,746
2,042 38,211 11,182 51,435

KEEZIRITRIE #EA /87,000,000
# T (20244 1 97,000,000 jt ) H
202543831 B EEN A (20244
6,861,000 #7T ) °

The Group had aggregate banking facilities amounting to
approximately HK$87,000,000 (2024: HK$97,000,000), which
were not utilised as at 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$6,861,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 #Z2025F 38315 IHFE

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 28. HREEEIEBIZEREBUR (@)

POLICIES (continued)
Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies
or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
March 2025 and 2024.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company have given careful consideration of
the liquidity requirement for the Group’s operations, the
performance of the Group and available sources of financing in
assessing whether the Group has sufficient financial resources
to continue as a going concern. The directors of the Company
have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections prepared by
management which covers a period of twelve months from 31
March 2025. The directors of the Company consider that the
Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due in the next twelve months
from 31 March 2025. Accordingly, the directors of the
Company consider it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

BEAERE
AEREAER T EBEBRRBERAER
BRNBEERFELENNEE TR
BRZEALER DUXFEXELEER
BKEREE -

AEFRBEBR I ECREBEEZ
BRSNS EANLBI/EH AT - i
AR EARLE  AEB A AERN
FREZKS  BEERTRERZEITH
R&tn o NBLZE 20254 L 2024 £ 3 A 31 H
LEFE AEETEEACHE Y BER
TR 4 HIR & &) o

NREGEMBERRE  AQTEEEE
BEEEAEBLEENRBEST K A&
EXRBEAUBARMERE MUTHAEZER
SHEBER RV BERUFELS - AXAQF
EFCEFAEEERENE B 202543
B31HEBH T _EAZAERRESRE
TEBl - RABREERRE AEEBEERT
REEESDEITHB20254E3H31H
ERKT_BEBEANIBHBEE ®
It RAREERARTFELERLERR
DEVBREBRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 ERaRbEE

31 March 2025 & ZE 2025438310 IHEE

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 29. KRB 2 AR TR
COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the RRERRBEBARQADTHINNTR 2 ER
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: s

2025 2024

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET

NON-CURRENT ASSETS JEARBIEE
Investments in subsidiaries RIBATZHE 296 6,065

CURRENT ASSETS mg&E

Due from subsidiaries FEUWE A BZIE - 84,434
Due from the immediate holding company JEW BE #5232 i /A T 5118 3 3
Prepayments and other receivables &Ik IE & E b fE Wk 18 113 195
Cash and cash equivalents I & KIS S EY) 12,001 25,308
Total current assets FiEEELLE 12,117 109,940

CURRENT LIABILITIES Rgh&a &

Other payables and accruals EAEFIE N EFTE H 600 617
NET CURRENT ASSETS B &E&EFE 11,517 109,323
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES B&ER ARSI EE 11,813 115,388
Net assets EEFE 11,813 115,388

EQUITY #E3
Share capital fZA& 110,337 110,337

Retained profits/(accumulated losses) (note) (98,524) 5,051
RERAN(RTEE) (M)

Total equity HEZS 4828 11,813 115,388
Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander Chan ChuenYin
1R ELRE fREE
Director Director
EE EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S MAFEERaRbEE

31 March 2025 #Z2025F 38315 IHFE

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 29. KRB 2B ARR TR (%)
COMPANY (Continued)
Note: MET -
A summary of the movements in the Company’s retained profits/ KRR RE &R (REE ) &8t
(accumulated losses) is as follows: T

Retained

profits/

(Accumulated

losses)

REZRF

(REtEEE)

HK$’ 000

FHET

At 1 April 2023 72 20234 4 8 1 A 3,504
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year A A K 2 Y 548 %8 1,547

At 31 March 2024 and at 1 April 2024 2 20244 3 A 31 HNX 2024 F4 8 1 H 5,051
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year £ RE1B N 2 HE 4248 (103,575)
At 31 March 2025 7 2025 4 3 A 31 H (98,524)

30. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 30. #HLERIFEERTE
The consolidated financial statements were approved and RAETBRRDN2025F6 25 HES
authorised for issue by the Board on 25 June 2025. EEHERIRETIR -
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hFFHRE

The following table summarises the results, assets and liabilities of ~ FRMFIAEEREZE 2021 4 « 20224 « 2023
the Group for the years ended 31 March 2021, 2022, 2023, 2024 4~ 20244 [ 202543831 H It F E =~ #*
and 2025: mEBERAE:

For the year ended 31 March
BE3ANNHLEE

2022 2023 2024 2025

= S —g]-= —E_mNE TR

HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FET FET FET FET FET

Results ¥i8

Revenue WA 234,504 225,457 216,148 171,638 153,021
Profit/(loss) before tax Fi B A, (E8 ) 19,652 5,818 (21,298) (24,629) (36,182)
Income tax credit/(expense) (2,826) (1,676) 281 (877) (4,836)
FgRiEe, (Fx)

Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the parent 16,826 4,142 (21,017) (25,006) (41,018)

AR ARMLEF,(EBER)

As at 31 March
m3A31H

2022 2023 2024 2025

—=E-C —EC=HF —“FoWME —FTRHF

HK$’ 000 HK$ 000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET FAET FET FET

Assets and liabilities BEERE&

Total assets #2 & & 214,260 250,486 196,296 145,183 78,720
Total liabilities #2& & (98,628)  (135,752)  (106,579) (80,472) (55,027)
Net assets EEFE 115,632 114,734 89,717 64,711 23,693
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 115,632 114,734 89,717 64,711 23,693

BRABHEEABLER
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